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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

The Directors present their report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements and Independent
Auditor's Report, for the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 (the “period”).

Review of the business and key performance indicators

The principal activity of the Company is that of a helding company. The principai activity of its subsidiary undertakings
continues to be the sale ang servicing of passenger cars and commercial vehicles and associated activities.

On 21 December 2021, the Group changed its accounting reference date to 31 March, consequently these consolidated
financial statements are presented for the 15 month period ended 31 March 2022, the comparative period remains the year
ended 31 December 2020.

In the 15 months ended 31 March 2022, reported revenue increased to £3.8bn. a growth of £1.6bn versus 2020 (74.8%).
While this reflects the comparison of a 15-month period with a 12-month period. there was also contribution from the
acguisitions in the period, mast noticeably the Motorline group of companies.

Gross margins in the period, at 12.2% (year ended 31 December 2020: 11.1%), benefitted from significant market tailwinds.
In particular, the unprecedented used vehicle value appreciation and the favourable demand-to-supply conditions for both
new and used vehicles.

Underlying operating expenses increased by £142.7m to £349.8m (year ended 31 December 2020: £207.1m). While this
increase was mainly driven by the change in accounting reference date, 1t also reflects the impact of acquisitions in the
period and the continuation of sector-wide cost pressures.

The Group delivered underlying profit before tax of £95.2m in the period {year ended 31 December 2020° £20.9m).

There was a net cash inflow from operations of £141.6m (year ended 31 December 2020 £96.0m}, which was mainly the
result of the increase in operating profit versus 2020,

The Group’s main KPls are revenue, gross profit and number of vehicle units sold.

15 months ended 31 March 2022

Revenue Gross Profit
£m mix” £m mix*
New Vehicles 1.565.2 40.7% 1252 27 4%
Used Vehicles 1,889.1 49.2% 147 6 32.3%
Aftersales 386.4 10.1% 184.0 40.3%
Internal Sales / Other (79.9) - 0.4 -
Total 3,760.9 100.0% 457.3 100.0%
Year ended 31 December 2020
Revenue Gross Profit
£m mix* £m mix*
New Vehicles 988.1 44 9% 65.1 27.4%
Used Vehicles 971.1 44 1% 63.7 26.8%
Aftersales 2406 11.0% 108.6 458%
Internal Sales / Other (45.4) - 0.8 -
Total 2,154.4 100.0% 238.2 100.0%

* Revenue and gress profit mix calculated excluding internal sales / other



Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Review of the business and key performance indicators (continued)

New Vehicles
15 Months Ended 12 Months Ended
31 March 2022 31 December 2020 Variance

New Retail Units 41771 27,913 49 6%
Fleet Units 26,505 15.021 76.5%
Total New Units 68,276 42,934 59.0%

The response to COVID-19 and the asscciated social and economic disruptions continued to impact the new vehicle market
during the period. Whilst trading during the third national lockdown from 4 January 2021 to 12 April 2021 was impacted by
the closure of our physical showrooms, we continued to operate effectively on a 'click and collect' basis during this period.

Vehicle production was also disrupted in the second half of 2021, with the well-documented global shortage of
semiconductors being the primary driver, curtailing new vehicle supply.

As reported by the Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders {SMMT'), total registrations of new vehicles in the UK during
2021 were 1.85m, up only 1.0% on 2020. While new car registrations to retail customers increased by 7.4% in the 12 months
to December 2021, registrations to fleet customers fell by 4.4%. This was largely due to a focus on supply to retail customers,
and some disruption to the normal cycle of the fleet market.

Far the three-month period to 31 March 2022, new vehicle supply issues continued. SMMT reported a decline in total new
registrations of 1.9%. with the disparity between new retail and fleet registrations becoming more pronounced, where we
saw hoth an increase of 22.1% and a decline of 20.5% respectively.

The Group’s total new unit sales in the period were 68,278, up 58.0% compared to the year ended 31 December 2020. Unit
sales to new retail customers increased 49.6% and sales to fleet customers increased by 76.5%.

Total new car revenue in the period was £1.565.2m (year ended 31 December 2020: £988.1mj}.

During the period the Group delivered a £60.1m increase in gross profit to £125.2m, with an increase in gross margin of
141bps to 8.0% primarily driven by supply constraints.

Used Vehicles

15 Months Ended 12 Months Ended
31 March 2022 31 December 2020 Variance

Total Used Units 77,308 44,505 73.7%

The SMMT reported that the used vehicle market in the UK increased by 11.5% for the 12 months to December 2021, with
a further increase of 5.1% for the 3 months to March 2022,

The market benefitted from exceptional market conditions where vehicle vatues increased by over 14.1% in Q2 2021, driven
by the imbalance of supply and demand as wel! as restrictions in new vehicle supply. Market conditions started to normalise
from November 2021, with used car pricing starting to follow a more traditional depreciation curve.

The Group's total used vehicle unit sales increased during the penod, from 44 505 in 2020 to 77,308, up 73.7%.
Total used car revenue in the period was £1 889.1 m (year ended 31 December 2020° £971.1m).

Gross profit in used vehicles increased from £63.7m in 2020 to £147.6m in the period.

Gross margin in the period was 7.8% {(compared to 6.6% in 2020), driven principally by aforementioned market tailwinds.
Record retail margins were booested by strong profits on the disposal of trade vehicles.



Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Review of the business and key performance indicators (continued)

Aftersales
15 Months Ended 12 Months Ended
31 March 2022 31 December 2020 Variance
Revenue (Em) 386.4 240.6 60.6%

Aftersales continued to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic in the period as a consequence of MOT and servicing
deferrals in H1 2020, higher-than-average levels of technician vacancies and absences, and avaifability of pans. In addtion,
the decline 1n the number of vehicles in the core less than three-year-old category, due to reduced new vehicle registrations
in the last two years, along with fewer journeys being undertaken in the early part of FY22 due to lockdowns, contributed to
a decline in underlying demand.

Total aftersales revenue in the period was up 60.6% to £386.4m (year endec 31 December 2020. £240.6m).
Aftersales gross margin tmproved by 249bps to 47.6% (2020: 45.1%).

Tax
The Group's tax charge before non-underlying items for the period was £19.0m (year ended 31 December 2020: £4.4m).
an underlying effective tax rate of 20.0% (year ended 31 December 2020: 21.1%).

The Group’s total reported effective tax rate differs from this due to the deferred tax charge arising following the substantive
enactment of the planned increase in the standard rate of corporation tax to 25% from April 2023.

Acquisitions and disposals
During the period, the Group acquired three new businesses

+ In May 2021, the Groug acquired the business and assets of Cheltenham and Gloucester Jaguar Land Rover from
Heritage Automotive Limited. The acquisition inciuded the purchase of a three-acre devetapment site in the territory at
which the Group plans to develop a new dual arch Jaguar Land Rover facility. Cheltenham and Gloucester are key
territories for the Jaguar and Land Rover brands. Whilst the business was significantly loss-making in 2020, The Group
now operates seven Jaguar and nine Land Rover businesses and is a key UK partner for each brand.

» In June 2021, the Group completed the acguisition of Leicester Nissan from Renault Retail Group. This acquisition
included the purchase of the three-acre site from which the business cperates. This acquisition strengthened the
Group's relationship with Nissan in the East Midlands and again, whilst the business has historically been marginally
loss-making. Leicester is considered to be a key territory for Nissan and we are confident of its future success.

» In October 2021, the Group announced the strategic acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Motorline Holdings
Limited, for cash consideration of £684.0m. This acquisition added 48 operating franchises including Toyota, Lexus,
Hyundai, Nissan, Peugeot, Vclkswagen, Audi, SKODA and Maserati, within locations across Kent, West Sussex,
Surrey, Berkshire, Bristol, South Wales and the West Midlands. This acquisition was completed with the support of
brand partners, both new and existing. The acquisition balance sheet is set out in Note 14. This includes the recognition
of £10.2m of goodwill and £45.7m of additional intangible assets. The property leases associated with this transaction
led to an increase in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of £119.8m and £118.9m respectively.

The Group also disposed of or closed 11 businesses during the period:
*« Newbury Honda

Maidstone Maserati

Newbury Nissan

Matorline Drive Now used car sites

Cambridge Used Cars

Sydenham Audi Used Vehicle Franchise

Brighton TPS

Grimsby VW

On 31 July 2022 the Group disposed of the Kia franchise in Scunthorpe.

At the date of this report, the Group consists of 160 franchises representing 26 brand partners trading in 37 counties
nationwide. |n addition, the Group operates nine trade parts specialists, three used car centres, five standalone body shops
and a pre-delivery inspection {PDI} centre.



Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Review of the business and key perfornance indicators (continued)

Change in ownership and delisting

Cn 29 November 2021 the Group received a conditional offer for the entire issued and to be 1ssued share capital of the
Company from CAG Vega 2 Limited, this offer was subsequently accepted by the shareholders and became unconditional
on 11 May 2022 On 16 May 2022 the Company made an application far the cancellation of trading of the Company’s shares
on Alternative Investment Market, with trading ceasing on 15 June 2022. The company 18 how a whaolly owned subsidiary of
CAG Vega 2 Limited a member of the Constellation Automotive Group of companies.

Non-underlying items
The Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income includes separate presentation of non-underlying items 1o provide
a consistent understanding of the performance of the Group year on year. '

Non-underlying items in the period comprise of the following:

*  Restructuring costs of £7.7m. These comprise of £5.0m in association with the Group's change of ownership, £1.6m
associated with the closure of eight of the Group’s franchised dealerships primarily resulting from a review of the
Group's portfolio following the acquisttion of the Motorline businesses, £07m of costs associated with the
integration of the Motorline businesses as well as £0.4m relating to system enhancement expenditure.

e  Acquisition costs of £3.5m relating to transactions completed within the period.

*  The Group sold the last two premises remaining in its investment property portfolio for a combined profit of £0.9m.

Freehold land and buildings
The Group incurred a total of £23.7m in capital expenditure during the period. This included £12.1m for the purchase of
Tunbridge Wells Audi, £4.5m for Beckenham Audi and £1.3m for South Lakes Mercedes.

The NBV of the group’s property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2022 was £215.2m {2020: £158.3m), of which £173.8m
relates to freehold land and buildings (2020: £123.7m). The property strategy remains key to the Group’'s success with
appropriate freehold purchases reducing ongoing operating costs.

Working capital
During the period, the Group benefited from a working capital inflow of £4.6m (2020 £43.2m) supported by extended stock
facilities and strong working capital management, with a particular focus on debt collection.

Net debt and facilities
At 31 March 2022, the Group's adjusted net cash was £15.6m (31 December 2020: £28.8my).

The Group's current finance facilities include a £60m revolving credit facility, which is committed until 30 September 2024.
The Group I1s alse in active negotiatidn with various lenders regarding a new revolving credit facility which is expected to
deliver increased flexibility as well as lower funding costs.

Net debt {including IFRS 16 lease labilities) as at 31 March 2022 was £193.7m (31 December 2020: £70.5mj}.

Pensions
The Group has no current commitments under defined benefit pension schemes, with all group pension plans being on a
defined contribution basis.

Dividend

In light of the financial performance of the Group. the Board anncunced the resumption of dividend payments during August
2021. An interim dividend of 8.86p per share (2020 interim dividend. nil) was paid in September 2021 to shareholders on
the Company's register as at close of business on 20 August 2021.



Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group faces a range of risks and uncertainties that vanously arise from the Group's operations, are specific to the
sector, or are due to wider macro-economic circumstances. The Board has established processes to monitor business risks
and has implemented mitigating actions in order to safeguard both shareholder value and the assets of the Group.

The principal risks and uncertainties the Directors believe could have the most significant adverse impact on the Group's
business, together with the principal controls in place to mitigate those risks are set out below, The risk trend column
indicates the Board's view on whether, from a Group perspective. taking into account mitigating actions, the potential for
each risk to have a material impact upon the Group has increased, remained relatively stable or decreased cver the past 15
months. The risks and uncertainties described below are not intended to be an exhaustive list and is likely to evolve over
time due to the dynamic nature of the Group's business. the sector, and the poiitical and economic circimstances of the UK.

The COVID-19 pandemic caused major disruption to businesses across the world, including the Group. Certain business
interruption risk remains, however, due to the success of the vaccination programmes and other measures implemented by
health and other government authorities, the inherent risk has reduced. To reflect the reduction in this risk. the impacts and
mitigating actions arising are contained within the overall Business Interruption risk.

The previously reported risks associated with Brexit have been removed as the UK's exit from the European Union
materialised without significant impact to the business.

Mitigations

Business |nterruption
Failure to recover, inan | « The Group misses its financial +  Crisis Management Team in place
acceptable time frame targets at the executive level supported by
and/or to an acceptabie = Reduction in confidence of key senior management in all areas of
level, from an unplanned stakehalders the business —
event or series of events | « Reputational damage impacting » Tried and tested communication [—
and circumstances that employees and customers channeis in place for all
have impacted the stakeholders
Group's ability to Impacts of COVID-19 pandemic: ¢ Intemnal communications from the
continue operating at « Emerging Covid variants Board to all employees as and
planned levels continue to bring uncertainty when reguired enabling changes to

regarding the possibility of future be implemented promptly

disruption s The Directors continue to assess

«  Government support for any the impacts and mitigating

future business disruption is measures as part of 'business as

unknown and therefore the risk usual’

of impact to Group profitability *  Protocols have been designed and

remains tested throughout the pandemic

« Global supply chains have been and can be re-implemented as and

disrupted, in particular the when required

supply of semi-conductors and

parts. both of which have had an

adverse impact on the

production of new vehicles. This

has temporarily inflated used-

car prices, although the impact

is expected to lessen




Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties (coniinued)

Risk

Strategy and Business Relationships

Failure to adopt the
right business strategy
and/or failure to
implement strategy
successfulty

The Group misses its financial
targets or is unable to invest in its
businesses

Reduction in confidence of key
stakeholders {shareholders,
brand partners, lenders, and
employees}

Poar investment decisions/
failure to achieve targeted
investment returns

Annual strategy review by the
Board to guide business
planning and investment
decisions

Monthly reporting and
manitoring of key financial
information and performance
with prompt investigation of
significant variances

Detailed business planning and
due diligence prior to potential
acquisitions

Review of capital expenditure
plans toc ensure that the
Group’s return on capital
ohjectives are achievable
Capital investment appraisal
process with Board review of
major investments

Diversity of franchises mitigates
the cyclical nature of, and an
over reliance on individual
vehicle brands

Focus on efficient use of
working capital supported by
bank credit lines and stock
financing facilities.

Manufacturer
relationships

Failure, or downturn in
performance, of manufacturer
partners impacting vehicle sales
and profitability of those
franchises

Failure to maintain good relations
with manufacturers impacting
revenue and profitabitity

Loss of a franchise leading to a
reduction in revenue and
profitability and the risk of vacant
properttes and/or onerous leases
Poor manufacturer relationships
impacting acquisition and/or
growth opportunities

Ongoing portfolio management
focused on strengthening key
franchise relationships/divestment
of non-core businesses

Diverse franchise representation
avoids over reliance on any single
manufacturer

Close contact and regular review
with manufacturers (through
Leadership Team, Operations,
Commercial and Franchise
Directors) to ensure our
respective goals are
communicated. understood and
aligned

Continued track record of
achieving brand targets, being a
partner whoem the brands can
trust




Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Strategy and Business Relationships (continued)

» Direct sales channels
circumventing franchised
dealers

* Revenues and profits may fall
due o competitor action
‘Mobility as a service’ leading to
reduced private vehicle .
ownership

+ Electric and alternative fue!
vehicles leading to a decline in
sales for traditional vehicle .
manufacturers and/or reduced
demand for aftersales services

selecting a new vehicle, reserving
online, arranging part exchanges and
financing. Supported by video calls,
live messaging on website, telephone
appointments, click and collect or
hame deliveries.

IT developments to maintain
competitive advantage (e.g.
development of wehsite/Phoenix
management system)

Maintaining close relationships with
manufacturer partners to ensure each
party's mutual aims are achieved
Close warking relationship and
partnership with brands who are
responding effectively to the cleaner
technology, automation and ‘mability
as a service’ potential disruptive
factors

Connected car technology reinforces
link between customers and
manufacturers through franchised
dealers

Annual strategy review by the Board
considers market and technology
trends and applies this information to
guide business planning and
investment decisions

The Group scale and financial position
leaves it in a good position to benefit
from market changes as technology
and custemer requirements evolve
The Group strategy of partnering with
key brands ensures we have a
strategic relationship with those
brands

Failure to I« Lossofkey +  Detaled business planming and due
Integrate ' personnel/customers difigence on potential acquisitions
acquisitions !« Brand partner relationship . Integration plan developed prior to
successfully damage reduced financial acquisition and implemented In a —
perfermance of acquired timely manner thereafter N
businesses . Phoenix management system
e Faifure to achieve targeted implemented immediately after
synergies acquisition
» Damage to manufacturer and/or . Prompt implementation of Group
customer relationships policies and procedures.
. Group target for Internal Audit to
verify successful implementation of
Group processes within 12 manths of
acguisition
Disruption to « Ajternative business models . Ongoing development of customer
franchise impacting franchised dealer experience to ensure the Group
business model, for example the maintains a competitive advantage
model proposed move {0 an agency . Increased focus on omni-channel with A
arrangement a seamless customer experience from R




Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties {continued)

Economic and Political

Deterioration in * Increased inflation and falling
economic consumer confidence leading to
conditions/ lower vehicle sales/margins
consumer and a reduction in revenue and
confidence profitability

= Reduction in used vehicle
values impacting stock values

»  Weakening Sterling impacting
new vehicle prices and sales

« Manufacturers’ focus on the UK
automctive retaill market may
decline leading to reduced
output and sales

+ Interest rate rises impacting
availability and affordagility of
vehicle financing leading to
increased costs of servicing the
Group's borrowings

Board manitaring of ecanomic
conditions and forecasts with
appropriate actions being developed
and implemented to reduce adverse
impact upcn the Group as whole
Detailed stock management and
reporting provided through the Group's
bespoke Phoenix information system.
Stock level information is used to
enforce the Group's prudent stock
polices (including a standard stock
holding period of 56 days for used
vehicles)

Maintaining close relationships with
manufacturers enables the Graup to
assess the level of commitment to the
UK market and seek to support and
reinforce this commitment

Managing the day to day working capitat
of the Group and the acguisition
strategy to maintain, on average, a low
level of net debt with substantial facility
headreom

increased * Increased operating and non-

operating costs controllable costs (e.g.
employment costs, Apprentice
Levy, business rate changes, IT
and marketing costs) impacting
profitability and the impact of
macro-economic events on
energy prices

+« Ongeing high inflation
throughout the supply chain
and in particular in fuel and
energy prices reduce
profitability

Operating and non-contrellable costs
are monitored through monthly
management reporting and the weekly
cperational ferecasts against
expectations set in the annual budget
Cost reduction and efficiency initiatives
to offset structural cost increases

The Graup is working with an energy
service provider to obtain the best
market prices and is contracting, where
appropriate, to reduce short term
volatility of unit energy costs. In
addition, reporting on energy usage is
provided to sites which incorporates
recommendations to reduce energy
usage

10




Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Risk

Finance and Treasury

Liguidity and credit

Credit availability/withdrawal of
financing facilities impacting
trading ability

Breach of covenants or inability
to meet debt obligations
Increased stock funding costs

The Group has access to £60m of
committed facilites available until
September 2024 under the
revolving credit facility agreement
Managing the day to day working
capital of the Group and the
acquisition strategy to maintair, on
average, a low level of net debt with
substantial facility headroom

The Group's track record and
current financial position leave it
well placed to secure funding;
however, market factors and the
macro-economic situation are
leading to increased funding costs

Vehicle residual values
volatility

Fluctuations in used vehicle
values adversely impacting the
value of the Group’s vehicle
inyentory

A sudden correction to the recent
appreciation in used vehicle
values adversely impacting the
Group's forecasts and profitability

 Stock management and monitering

Regular pricing reviews

Legal and Regulatory

Legal and regulatory
changes ang
compliance

Non-compliance with key legal
and regulatory codes (Financial
Conduct Authority ("FCA"), Briver
& Vehicle Standards Agency,
Information Commissioner's
Office, etc.} leading to fines,
litigation, authorisation
suspension and/or reputational
damage

Regulatory intervention into the
market {for example the FCA
moter finance review and the
FCA Thematic Review of
General Insurance Distribution
Chains) may impact operations

Monitoring of regulatory
anncuncements/market studies to
identify potential changes in
regulatory requirements and
implementation of any changes
necessary to meet new
requirements

Group compliance team tasked
with developing policies /
pracedures, training, and
monitcring compliance
Cempliance team deliver an
annual programme of reviews to a
scope approved by the
Compliance Oversight Committee
On-going programme of systems
and software development to
support the sale process
providing consistency and
enhanced monitoring capabhility

A programme of training has been
dehivered across the Group to
meet the requirements of the
FCA's Senior Managers &
Certification Regime.

This training has also been
incorporated into the induction
procedures for new employees

11
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Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Ri_sk

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

|__Environmental and Health & Safety

impact

Mitigations

Environmental and
Health & Safety

* Failure to ensure colleagues and
customers safe places of work
leading to accidents, litigation,
fines and regulatory intervention

« Non-compliance with
environmental laws & regulations
leading to fines, penalties and
caompensation and clean-up
costs and disruption to
operations

The Group Environment, Health & [

Safety team develop and support
sites in implementing policies and
procedures to promote safe
places of work. These procedures
include:
< Aprogramme of audits
across Group
~  Regular inspection of plant
and equipment
o VWaste management
procedures and employee
training
The Group Envirecnment, Health &
Safety team monitors comgliance
and promotes a health and safety
helps culture
Compliance with policies and
incident response is a standing
agenda item for the Board and the
operational management
meetings
Environmental due diligence is
carried out for new site
acquisitions with appropriate
environmental and remediation
works being carried and
insurance being put in place for
higher risk sites

| Climate Change

+ Inability to meet the increasing
consumer demand for EV
impacting profitability and
inability to adequately service
EV due to lack of skilled
technicians and/or over
investment in skills not yet
required leading to loss of
customers and profitability

+ bnplanned or increased costs
relating to extreme weather
events

«  Reputational impact of not
meeting regulatory, legislative
requirements and/or stakeholder
expectations regarding
mitigation of climate change
risks

Our brand partners are driving the
change towards greener
technologies

The Group is closely monitoring
EV demand and sales in order to
assess differences in aftersales
profitability, ensure the
appropriate mix of skills in
aftersales and to develop
mitigation strategies such as
marketing and loyalty programs
for EV customers

The direct risk of extreme weather
events is mitigated as sites are
spread gecgraphically across the
country

The Group continues to monitor
future regulatory, legislative and
consumer expectations on
mitigating climate risks to ensure
the strategies and plans are
developed accordingly

Il

12
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Strategic Report (continued}
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

IT and Cyber Security
Failure of key « Loss of key information systems, The Group IT strategy is set by the |
IT systems downtime and business Board with delivery being monitored
interruption by an IT steering committee
The Group IT team menitars systems | —
and implements upgrade L
programmes as required following
appraval by the IT steering
committee
IT system contingency and disaster
recovery plans are in place
Cyber security « Potential to corrupt, affect or The Group has clear
destroy key systems and data protocols/policies in place regarding
(email, DMS & customer use and access to the Group's IT
records), denial of service systems
attacks and business interruption Cyber security defences are in place
leading to lost revenue, and include-
reputational damage, unplanned Network unified threat management /
recovery costs and fines for data Firewall
breaches. Anti-virus software
Inbound and cuthound email
scanning and filtering
A cyber awareness program has
been implemented to provide user
friendly training to colleagues
Security Steering Committee chaired
by the Chief Information Security
Officer with representatives across
the husiness, far the coordination of
cyber and information security
thraughout the Group. A
benchmarking exercise has been
completed and.this committee will
oversee the development and
implementation of a security
improvement programme to further
mitigate this increasing risk.
People
Failure to attract, o Loss of key personnel and skilled Appropriate remuneration packages
develop, motivate and workers (e.g. technicians) which reward performance and
retain key employees impacting operational include fong-term mcentive plans for
performarce, and relationships senicr employees which are aligned —
with key brand partners and with the interests of sharehalders M
suppliers Guaranteed earnings scheme for
¢ Financial cost to the business to new sales staff to assist recruitment
attract and retain colleagues in all and retention
areas of the business Promotion of “Great Place to Work”
exacerbated by increased culture
competition for the best talent due Training and career development
to economic recavery, increase to programmes in place to provide
National Minimum wage and opportunities for promation within the
Living wage and overall shortage Group
of skilled labour Succession planning far senior roles

13



Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Financial risk management

Business activities are carried out under normal trade terms: these terms and relationships with suppliers and customers
are regularly reviewed. The Group has a treasury arrangement providing access to all subsidiary undertakings to group wide
faclities. Funding requirements are managed on a group wide basis.

The Group does not use financial derivatives and does not enter into financial instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes.

Details of the Group's principal financial instruments, its exposure to price, credit, liquidity and cash flow risks, together with
details of the Greup’s financial risk management policies, processes and systems, are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Board decision making (s172 statement}

The Board is accountable to shareholders for the management, performance and long-term success of the Group and
Company, The Directors have regard to their duty under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 to act in the way which
they consider. in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Group and Company for the benefit of its
members as a whole and, in doing so, have regard (amongst other matters) to:

(i) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

(it) the interests of the Group’s and the Company's employees;

{ill) the need to foster the Group's and the Company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others,

{iv} the impact of the Group's and the Company's operations on the community and the environment;

{v) the desirability of the Group's and the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
{vi} the need to act fairly as between members of the Group and Company.

Section 172 therefore requires the Board to consider wider stakeholder interests when discharging their duty to promote the
success of the Group and Company

For the purposes of dectsion making. the Directors have identified key stakeholder groups, have evaluated their interests,
and describe below how they have engaged with and responded to the interests of those stakeholders during the 15 months
ended 31 March 2022.

StaGki.-:E;der Interests How does the Group Engage and Respond
Customers * Dealing with a trusted and + A "Sales Orientation Programme”, which all new Sales
transparent organisation. Executives attend, to ensure that they deliver a consistent
+ Maintaining a relationship over the and high-quality customer experience.
lorig term. - A customer-focused culture, supported by clearly
» Receiving balanced advice when defined sales processes.
purchasing a vehicle or having a - Effective governance supported by an independent
vehicle serviced or repaired. compliance team, a detailed understanding of the
* Having clanity as to the pricing of regulatory environment, coupled with monitoring and
vehicles as well as the adaitional training to drive continugus improvement.
products and services. » The Group's scale of operations, strong manufacturer
+ Achieving good value for money. and other supplier relationships support the delivery of
+ Responding promptly and value-for-maney for the customer.
appropriately to any customer » Frequent customer satisfaction surveys.
complaints or concerns. + Independent complaint handling by the Group's internal
compliance team in retation to regulated activities.
Monitoring of customer complaints te identify any themes,
with appropnate actions taken to address identified
issues.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued}
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Board decision making {s172 statement) (continued)

Staécra:&l,der Interests How does the Group Engage and Respond
. Employees « Seeing an alignment between - Regular communications from the senior management
! personal and corporate values team, colleague magazine, Intranet, regular team
» Knowing that the organisation has a | meetings and engaging social media channels.
strong commitment to ethical + Annual employee survey foliowed by line manager
practices and compliance briefings and the development of action plans to drive
| « Being part of a successful and improvement.
i secure organisation = Group "whistle blowing” hotline provided by a third party
| - A safe working environment to allow empioyees to raise concerns in confidence.
i » Knowing that their views are heard + Recognising colleagues through the Group's ‘Above and
‘ and acted upon., Beyond' awards programme.
‘ - Promating diversity in the workplace; for example
! through membership of the Automotive 30% Club.
‘ » Group values and policies on work place conduct
! develop a supportive, respectful and friendly working
‘ environment.
i + Investment in learning and development to ensure that
| staff are equipped with the skills they need to do their
! roles.
i - Group Health, Safety and Envircnment Team who work
! with all sites to promote safe working practices as well as
| monitaring trends and making changes to procedures in
: response to those trends
" Suppliers » A colfaborative, open and supportive | + Strong refationships with vehicle manufacturers,

relationship
« Prompt, clear and responsive
communications

developed through regular meetings with the Group's
senior management.

+ Long term partnership agreements with key sirategic
suppliers, which deliver value for money for the Group
and certainty of business for the supplier.

Communities * Responsible investment,
development and operations

» Delivery of employment

' opportunities

+ Support for local communities and

national causes

- Investing in the dealership portfolio to ensure that all the
sites are well maintained, optimise energy use and
environmental impact. as well as being an asseét ta the
local area.

» Providing direct employment to aver 5,000 people.

+ Supporting and raising awareness for the Motor and
Allied Trades Benevolent Fund.

» Supporting local and national charities, as well as
encouraging employees ta become involved in the
communities in which they work.

" Shareholders = A business with a clear strategy
! which is well executed
 Financial discipline backed by

i strong internal controls

: + Strong return on investment
throughout the economic cycle

- Track record of strong financial performance.

+ Successful growth through strategic acqguisitions that
have been appropriately integrated into the Group.

« Clear and transparent financial reporting.

Funders = Open and honest relationship with
clarity as to business performance
« Financiaf discipline backed by
strong internal controls which enables

delivery of commitments.

+ Clear and transparent financial reporting.

+ Relationships with all funders at a senior level within
the Group.

« Strong day-to-day werking refationships between
Group and funder operational staff,
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Board decision making (s172 statement) (continued}

During the period, the fellowing key decisions were taken by the Board, in respect of which the Board considered its duties
under Section 172:

* Reinstatement of Dividends: In August 2021, the Company announced the reinstatement of dividend payments
following their suspension during the COVID-19 pandemic. In making the decision to reinstate the payment of
dividends, the Board considered not only the interests of ts shareholders and the Company's financial capacity to pay
dividends, but also the interests of other stakeholders. The Company had suspended the payment of dividends in
2020, in part, in recognition of the significant support received both from Government measures such as business rates
relief and CJRS. Dividends were reinstated in the period only after the repayment by the Company of 2021 business
ratos relicf and CJRE support.

* Acguisition of Motorline Holdings Limited: The Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Motorline
Holdings Limited ("Acquisition”) in October 2021. The Board considered the Acquisition in the context of its Section
172 duties and believed it to be in line with the Company's growth strategy and to be in the long-term interests of the
Company. The Board also believed the Acquisition strengthened the Company's relationships with key suppliers
{including in particular, existing and new brand partners), provided further opportunities for its existing and new
employees as part of a larger group and was in the interests of shareholders.

+ Recommended Offer from CAG Vega 2 Limited: In December 2021, the Board recommended the offer from CAG
Vega 2 Limited (a subsidiary of Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited) for the entire issued share capital of the
Company at a price of £4.00 per share. The Board's decision to recommend the offer was made after careful
consideration of both the financial terms of the offer and the interests of shareholders and also the impact of the offer
on the Board's suppliers {including in particular, its brand pariners) and the Company’s employees, noting in particular
Constellation’s statements that it had no intention to make any changes to the conditons of employment or the balance
of the skills and functions of the Company's employees or management.

Approval
This Strategic Report was approved by order of the Board on 27 September 2022.

e

R.J. Blumberger
Director
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company 1s that of a holding company. The principal activity of its subsidiary undertakings is the
sale and servicing of passenger cars and commercial vehicles and associated activities.

Results and dividends

The results far the period are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Aninterim dividend in respect
of the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 of £6,931,000 representing a payment of 8.86p per ordinary share in issue at that
time was paid in September 2021. The Directors are not recommending the payment of a final dividend for the period. For
full details, see Note 13 ‘Dividends’.

Directors

The Directors of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited {"the Company”) throughout the period and to the date of this Report are
detailed below:

Non-Executive Directors

Timathy Lampert (appointed 11 May 2022}
Matthew Kelly (appoimted 11 May 2022)

Alan Ferguson (resigned 11 May 2022}
Francesca Ecsery (resigned 11 May 2022)

Nicky Dulieu (resigned 11 May 2022}
Christopher Walkinshaw (resigned 11 May 2022)
Richard Parry-Janes (resigned 16 April 2621}
Kathy Jenkins (resigned 8 April 2021}

Executive Directors
Daksh Gupta (resigned 25 May 2022}
Richard Blumberger

No ather Directors held office during the pericd or have been appointed subsequently.

Directors’ insurance and indemnities

The Directors have the benefit of the indemnity provisions contained in the Company's Articles and the Company has
maintained, throughout the Period, Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance for the benefit of the Company, the Directors
and its officers. The Company has entered into qualifying third party indemnity arrangements for the benefit of all its Directors
in a form and scope which comply with the requirements of the Campanies Act 2006 and which were in force throughout the
Period and remain in force.

Independent Auditor

In so far as each of the persons who were Directors at the date of approving these financial statements is aware:
» There is no relevant information of which the Group and Company’s auditor is unaware; and
» Each Director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant
infarmation and fo establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

Charitable and political donations

During the Period, the Group made charitable donations of £24,000 (year ended 31 December 2020: £30,000).

No political contributions were made during the Period (yvear ended 31 December 2020: £nil),

Events since the balance sheet date

For full details of all such events see Note 34 "Events after the reporting period”.

Going concern

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and for at least one year from the date that these financial statements are signed. For these reasons, the Directors
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Far further information on the going concern
assessment see Note 1 ‘Basis of preparation and statement of complrance’.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Future developments

The Group's strategic visicn is to be regarded as the UK's premier franchised autometive retaller. The Group will continue
to focus on achieving this goal through

* the performance optimisation of the business

» offering outstanding customer service

* demonstrating retailing excellence

»  building strong relations with our brand partners and key suppliers, and

* by being a great place to work.

Employment of disabled persons

The Group gives full consideration 1o applications for employment from disabled persons where the candidate's particular
aptitudes and abilities are consistent with adeguately meeting the requirements of the job. Opportunities are available to -
disabled employees for training, career development and promotion.

Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group's policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable
in the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate training to achieve this aim.

Anti-bribery and corruption

The Group has in place an anti-bribery and corruption policy, the aim of which is to ensure that colleagues understand their
obligations under anti-bribery legislation and includes authorisation and disclosure procedures around the provision and
receipt of corporate hospitality and gifts.

Employee involvement

During the Period the Group has continued to provide employees with infermation about the Group through the newsletters
‘Marshall Matters’ and ‘Compliance Matters’, team briefings and through the Group wide emait distribution. Regular meetings
are held between local management and employees to allow a free flow of information and ideas. The Group also
participated in the Great Place to Work® UK's employee engagement programme. For the 2021 Survey, the participation
rate remained high at 83% and the Group was once again included in the "Best UK Super Large Workplace” rankings for
the seventh year in succession,

Busifiess relationships -

The Directors recognise that it is essential for the ongaing success and reputation of the Group to foster strong relationships
with the stakehclder community. Far full details of these considerations and the effect this regard has had on the principal
decisions made in the Pericd. see the Board Decision Making (5172 Statement) section of the Strategic Report.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

Under the Companies (Directors' Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018
{"the Regulations™), the Group is mandated to disclose its UK energy use and the associated greenhouse gas emissions
refating to natural gas, electricity and transport fuel. In addition, publication of an intensity ratio as well the calculation
methodology applied is required.

Calculfation Methodoiogy

Scope 1 and Scope 2 energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions data has been calculated in line with the 2019
UK Government environmental reporting guidance. There were a number of instances, equating to 15.6% of the total
reported consumption figures, where it was necessary to calculate some estimated consumption to achieve 100% data
coverage. Emission Factor Databases consistent with the 2019 UK Government environmental reporting guidance have
been used utlising the current published kWh gross calorific value (CV) and tCOze emissions factors relevant for the
reporting period.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) (continued)

Resulits

The table below shows the energy consumption and associated greenhouse gas emissions of the Group's operations during

the reporting period from 1 January 2021 to 31 March 2022. The calculations are for the following scope:

e Scope 1 consumption and emissions relate to the direct combustion of natural gas and fuels utilised for transportation
operations, such as company vehicle fleets and grey fleet (i.e. vehicles owned and driven by employees for business
purpcses), and

» Scope 2 consumption and emissions relate to indirect emissions resulting from the consumption of purchased electricity
in day-to-day business operations.

15 months ended - . Yearended.
31 March 2022* ' . 31 December 2020™

Greenhouse Greenhouse

Consumption Gas Emissions Consumption  Gas Emissions

(LERTH) {tCQze) (kwWh} (tCO2e)

Grid supplied electricity (Scope 2} 35,283,360 6,389 24,114,863 4,604
Gas and other fuels (Scope 1) 32,234,896 7,014 22 507,747 5167
Transport fuel (Scope 1) 38,819,841 9,018 21,126,233 5,083
Total 106,338,097 22,421 67,748,843 14,854
N 15 months Year ended

ended 31 December

31 March 2022 2020

Intensity Metric:
tCOze per £'m Revenue 5.96 6.90

* The data for the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 includes data for the Motorline group of companies for the full period,
not just the post acquisition period of 14 October 2021 to 31 March 2022.
** The prior year comparatives have been re-stated to include data for the Motarline group of companies.

Energy Efficiency Improvements

The Group is committed to year-on-year improvements in operational energy efficiency. All property construction and
refurbishment programmes are developed to ensure improvements in energy efficiency and a reduction in consumption by
using sustainable energy solutions where appropriate.

Aleng with its brand partners the Group is investing in the installation of electrical vehicle (EV) charging points across the
property estate. While this will not reduce the averall emissions of the Group, it demonstrates the Group’s support of the
required decarbonisation of the transport sector. Through the planned installation of EV charging points, the Group will
contribute to the growing infrastructure for electric vehicles through the UK.

Measures Prioritised for Implementation in 2022/2023

1. Ongoing Compliance with Energy Reporting Legislation

The Group is mandated to comply with the Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme (ESOS) and, as such, produces a summary
of alf available energy efficiency improvements on a four-year cycle. This will be completed again in line with the 2023 Phase
3 compliance deadline. Recommendations found within the Phase 2 reporting are being reviewed and will be acted on where
practical.

Upon normalisation of operations foilowing the COVID-19 pandemic, the implementation of ongoing training in energy
conservation and sustainability awareness is being considered for all employees across the Group.

2. Energy and Environment Strategy
The Group are working towards implementing an Energy and Environment strategy that ensures ongoing energy and carban
reductions over the coming years in line with the UK’s 2050 net zero targets.

Approval
This Directors’ Report was approved by order of the Board on 27 September 2022.

R.J. Blumberger
Director
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

The Directors are responsible far preparing the annuat report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that faw the Directors

are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards

and the Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United

Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial

statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and

of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to.

. select sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

. prepare the financial statements an the gaing concemn basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Graup and
the Company will centinue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reascnable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and ather irregularities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited
For the 15 months ended 31 Maich 2022

Opinion on the financial statements

In our opinion:

* the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at
31 March 2022 and of the Group's profit for the peried then ended:

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting
standards; -

+ the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generaily
Accepted Accounting Practice; and K

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements of Marshalt Motor Holdings Limited (the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries
{the 'Group’) for the period ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,
the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheet, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, and notes to the Consolidated and Company financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial staiements is applicable
law and UK adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard in the UK and Republic of Irefand {United
Kinggom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationat Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibiliies for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

independence

We remain independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group and the
Parent Company's ability to continue to adoptthe going concern basis of accounting included:

» Reviewed the Directors’ assessment of going concern through analysis of the Group’s cash flow forecast through to
31 December 2023, including assessing and challenging the assumptions underlying the forecasts by reference to our
own knowledge of the industry and alsc commentary made by industry experts (e.g. SMMT, CAP). We looked at the
relevance and reliability of underlying data used to make the assessment via consideration of the underlying
assumptions and agreement to underlying forecasts, appropriately sensitised where required by various scenarics.

«  As part of this process we have considered the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as well as the cost-of-
living crisis on the forecasts, within which the Directors have built three potential scenarios dependent on the severity
of the impact. We have considered these scenarios in the context of what would be considered a reascnable worst-
case scenario and also considered the underlying assumptions of the forecasts to industry commentary.

» We also obtained an understanding of the financing facilities, including the nature of these facilities, repayment terms
and covenants. We then assessed the facility headroom calculations an both a base case scenario, and the Directars’
downside scenarios. These scenarios all cover the period since the delisting of the Group after the period end.

« \We considered the likelihood of each scenario happening and considered what actions the Group has available should
there be a potential covenant dreach.

*+ Reviewed the adequacy and appropriateness of disclosures in the financial statements regarding the gaing concemn
assessment to ensure its consistency with the Directors’ forecasts and the relevant accounting standards.

Based on the wark we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditicns
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and the Parent Company's abillity to continue as a
going concern for a pericd of at least twelve months from when the financiat statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

(continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Overview

100% (2020: 100%) of Group profit before tax
i Coverage 100% (2020° 100%) of Group revenue
100% (2020: 100%)} of Group total assets

2022 2020
Vehicle inventory provisions v v
Assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets v
Key audit matters Going concern v
Acquisition of Motorline Holdings Limited v

The assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets and going
concern are no longer considered to be key audit matters because of the improved results of
the Group in the period and the forecast future performance.

Materiality Group financial statements as a whole
£5,950k (2020: £967k) based on 7% of profit before tax (2020; 5% of profit before tax aver the
last 3 periods)

An overview of the scope of gur audit

Our Groug audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including the Group's system
of internal control, and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. We also addressed the risk
of management override of internal controls, including assessing whether there was evidence of bias by the Directors that
may have represented a risk of material misstatement.

Our audit work in the respect of the Group was based on the aggregated consclidated position at the period end and a fully
substantive audit was conducted on the consolidated position using the group materiality level. At 31 March 2022, the Group
had 46 components whose transactions and balances are included in the consclidated accounting records. Of these
components only one, Marshall Motor Group Limited, was considered to be significant. Each component's financial
information could be selected for the purpase of representative sampling and key item testing in line with the approach
cutlined above.

All work was carried out by the group audit team.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in cur audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not
due to fraud) that we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed In the context of
our audgit of the financial statements as a whele, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

22



Independent Auditor’'s Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited
(continued)

For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

An overview of the scope of our audit (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)}

[
!
[

Key audit matter

How the scope of our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Vehicle
inventory
provisions

Please refer

The Group has a significant
helding of new and used
vehicle inventory.

Vehicles held as inventory

We gained an understanding of the method applied by management in
performing its inventory provisioning calculation and checked that the
methcdology was being applied in line the Group’s policy.

We recalcutated management's provision and agreed the valuation of
inventory to post period-end sales {if the vehicle was sold) to check that

. to Note 18, have the potential to
' accounting depreciate and depllne in i these inventories are valued at the Iower of cost and net realisable value
. policies in value over the period of and compared this to the amounts pravided.
! Note 2 and ownership by the Group and ‘ _ .
key SOL'rces as a result management have | We discussed the nsk of impairment in respect of the unsold vehicles with
' - included a provision against management. This invelved consideration of the sales rate for vehicles
of estmation | ihese inventories of £15.1m. | and the expected future changes in vehicle values by reference to industry
l_mcerfamry expert forecasts. In addition, we have valued all unsold vehicles to
in Note 4. Value volatility is in response | independent valuation data (CAP} to corroborate management judgements
to market conditions and is over the fall in vehicle values.
deemed a higher risk in
relation to used, We evaluated the accuracy of the provision in the prior period to assess
demenstrator and pre- management's long term forecasting ability and compared the post year
, registered vehicle inventory. end utilisation of the provision in the current period to the comparable
i period in the prior year.
‘ The valuation of vehicle
inventory provisions is Key observations:
subject to management Based on the procedures performed, management's judgements in
judgement and is, therefore, determining the inventory provisions are appropriate
a key audit matter.
Acquisition | The Group acquired the In respect of the fair value of the consideration, we reviewed
of Motorline | entire share capital of the management's calculation with reference to the sale and purchase
-Holdings Motorline Holdings Limited agreement and agreed the cash consideration to the payment made to the
Limited group during the period. The | bank statements.
acquisition resulted in the ¥
Please refer recognition of intangible We checked and confirmed that the acqu_isition accounting exercise had
to Note 14, assets at fa_lr value of £45.7m been_ carried out in accordance with applicable accounting standards by
accounting and goodwill of £11.2m. considering the requirements under IFRS 3.
%;gn;s ;r;rd Management has recognised | In relation to management's estimates in respect of the fair value of the
) on acquisition separately assets and liabilities acquired:
key SQ“”}‘?S identifiable intangible assets « We checked management's workings relaling to the estimates in
of eslimation | i respect of the franchise respect of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired to
uncertainty agreements, exercising supporting third party evidence where applicable, such as property
in Nofe 4. valuations.

judgement in estimating the
fair value for each ane. A
third party expert was
commissioned by
management to assist with
the purchased price
allocation.

There is alse complexity in
complying with the disclosure
requirements of IFRS 3
‘Business Combinations’.

The matter is considered a
key audit matter as a result of
the judgement and estimation
involved in determining the
fair value of the identified
intangible assets.

« We assessed the competence, capability, independence and
objectivity of management's expert who performed the purchase price
allocation exercise.

+ We assessed the valuation of the intangble assets that were
cansidered separately identifiable on acguisition, testing the key inputs
in the valuation model with reference to data such as management's
forecasts and, with the assistance of our internal valuations experts,
reviewed the approprateness of the key assumptions, such as
estimated discount rates, and the methodology applied in the model.

*» We also considered management's completeness of the separately
identifiable intangible assets with reference to our understanding of the
business and key motivations of the transaction.

In respect of the disclosures we assessed the relevant notes in accordance
with the requirements of IFRS 3.

Key observations:
Based on the procedures performed, we consider that the acquisition has
been appropriately recognised in the financial statements,
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the Members of Marshali Motor Holdings Limited

(continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements.
We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could influence the economic
decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.

In order o reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that any misstatements exceed materiality. we use a lower
materiality level, performance materiality, to determine the extent of testing needed. Impartantly, misstatements below these
levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take account of the nature of identfied misstatements, and
the particular circumstances of their cccurrence, when evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole and performance
materiality as follows:

Group financial statements Parent Company financial statements

2022 2020 2022 2020
. Materiality £5,950k F967k £2,700k £600k
| Basis for 7% of profit before tax (2020: 5% of profit | 3% of net assets (2020 62% of Group
determining before tax aver the tast 3 pericds) materiality)
materiality

Rationale for the

We considered 7% (2020: 5%) of profit

We considered net assets to be the most

benchmark before tax to be a key performance | appropriate measure as the Parent Company
applied benchmark for the Group and the users of | is primarily an investment holding company.
the financial statements in  assessing | In 2020 materiality was calculated as a
financial perfoermance. percentage of Group materiality due to
aggregated consideration of significant
component materiality levels.
Performance
materiality £4,483k £580k £2 025k 360K
Basis for On the basis of our risk assessment, | On the basis of our risk assessment, together
determining tagether with our assessment ofthe Group’s | with our assessment of the Company's control
performance control ervironment, our judgement is that | environment, our  judgement is that
materiality performance materiality for the financial | performance materiality for the financial
statements should be 75% (2020: 60%). statements should be 76% (2020: 60%).

Component materiality

No specific compaonent materiality was set as our approach was to audit the Group financial statements as a whole as f it
were one entity. This meant that transactions and balances from all components were able to be selected as part of our
testing. The Group materiality and performance matenality figures disclosed above were used.

Reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all individual audit differences in excess of £250,000
{2020: £19,000). We also agreed to report differences below this threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on
quailitative grounds. ,

Other information

The Directors are responsible far the other information. The other information comgrises the information included in the
Report and Financial Statements other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Qur respensibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent materia! misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the
finrancial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information. we are required to report that fact.

We have nathing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

(continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting
Based on the responsibilities described below and our work performed during the course of the audit, we are required by
the Companies Act 2006 and 1SAs (UK) to report on certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit

Report and » the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for
Directors’ which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements: and
Report « the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with

applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Parent Company and its
environment obtainad in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in
the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report.

Matters on We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act
which we are 2008 requires us to report to you if. in our opinion:

required to + adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns
report by adeguate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
exception + the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records

and returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
= we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but 1s not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisians of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements,

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-cempliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsigilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent
to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

*+  We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group (and wider
motor retail industry) and determined that the most significant framewaorks which are directly relevant to specific
assertions in the financial statements are those that relate to the reporting framewark, rules of the London Stock
Exchange for companies trading securities on AIM, the Companies Act 2006, FCA compliance and relevant tax
compliance regulations. We understood haw the Group is complying with those frameworks by making enguiries of
Management and those responsible for legal and compliance procedures;

* We had discussions with management regarding known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations, including discussions with the Group's internal audit and compliance teams;
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

(continued)
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (confinued)

Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud {continued)

» Our audit planning identified fraud risks in relation to management override and the nappropriate or incarrect
recognition of revenue. Within management override we have considered key areas of estimate and judgement such
as vehicle inventory provisions and the accounting for acquisitions (both assessed as a Key Audit Matter above). We
carried out procedures to check that revenue was recognised in the correct period. We obtained an understanding of
the processes and controls that the Group has established to address risks 1dentified, or that otherwise prevent, deter
and detect fraud; and how management monitors those processes and controls;

«  Our audit team included motor dealership specialists to ensure the audit team had the appropriate competence and
knowledge to identify any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

e Assessing journals enfries as part of our planned audit appreach, with a particular focus on journal entries to key
financial statement areas such as revenue and inventories. We also performed an assessment on the appropriateness
of key judgements and estimates which are subject to management’s judgement and estimation, and could be subject
to potentiat bias; and

« We discussed the risks of fraud at planning and communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential
fraud risks to all engagement team members, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulations throughout the audi.

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, recognising
that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There
are inherent limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we are to become aware of it.

A furtber description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at:
www frg org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of cur auditor's report.

Use of our report

This repart 1s made salely to the Parent Company's members, as a hody, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Parent Company's members those
matters we are reqguired to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted oy
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone ather than the Parent Company and the Parent Company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, far this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by:

Stoe (1 Boas

SABE1TEBEATBAAT

Stephen Le Bas (Senior statutory auditor)

For and on behalf of BDO LL.P, Statutory Auditor
Southamptaon, UK

27 September 2022

BDO LLP is a limited ligbility partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number QC305127).
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Note

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Net operating expenses

Operating profit

Net finance costs

Profit before taxation

Taxation

Profit from continuing operations
after tax

Total comprehensive income for the
year net of tax

Earnings per share (EPS) attributable

to equity shareholders of the parent

{pence per share)

Basic 12

Diluted 12

15 months ended 31 March 2022

| Year ended 31 December 2020 |

Non- Non-

Underlying  underlying Underlying underlying
items items Total items items Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £°000 £000
3.760.882 - 3.760,882 2,154,415 - 2,154,415
(3,303.604} - (3,303,604 (1916.225) - {1,916.225)
457,278 - 457,278 238,190 - 238,130
(349.813) {10,209) (360,022) {207,068} (590) (207.658)
107,465 (10,209) 97,256 31,122 (590) 30,632
{12,296) - {12,296) (10.176) - {10,176)
95,169 {10,2089) 84,960 20,946 {5%0) 20,356

(19.031) (6,610} (25,641) (4.425) (2.011) (6,436)

76,138 {16,819} 59,319 16,521 (2,601} 13,920
76,138 {16,819) 59,319 16,521 {2,601) 13,920
97.3 75.8 211 17.8
94 1 73.3 206 17.4

All activities of the Groug in both the current and prior period are continuing.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheet Company Registration Number: 02051461
At 31 March 2022

156 months ended Year ended
31 March 2022 31 December 2020

Non-current assets Note £'000 £'000
Goodwill and other intangible assets 14 176,124 119.533
Property. plant and equipment 15 215,246 158,303
Right-of-use assets 16 213,926 98,832
Investment property 17 - 1,498
Non-current financial assets 16 1,190 1,334
Total non-current assets 606,486 379,500
Current assets
Inventaries 18 446,047 362,879
Trade and other receivables 19 128,688 65,780
Cash and cash equivalents 20 27,698 33,844
Assets classified as held for sale 21 - 703
Current tax assets - 295
Total current assets 602,433 463,501
Total assets 1,208,919 843,001
Non-current liahilities
Loans and borrowings 23 10,683 4383
Lease liabilities 16 162,404 88.383
Trade and other payables 22 12,092 6,008
Provisions 24 1,401 540
Deferred tax liabilities 25 46 387 22,715
Total non-current liabilities 232,967 122,029
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 23 1,428 641
Lease liabilities 16 46 867 10,961
Trade and other payables 22 650,726 491,248
Provisions 24 3710 2,190
Current tax lizbilities 1,018 -
Total current liabilities 703,749 505,040
Total liabilities 936,716 627,069
Net assets 272,203 215,932
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 28 50,068 . 50.068
Share premium 28 19,672 19.672
Share-based payments reserve 29 5617 1,586
Qwn shares reserve 28 - (12}
Retained earnings 196,846 144 618
Total equity 272,203 215,932

The consolidated financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited were approved for issue by the Board of Directors

on 27%)&2_

R.J. Blumberger
Director
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Balance at 1 January 2020

Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Share-based payments charge
Balance at 31 December 2020

Profit for the period
Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid

Acquisition of own shares
Exercise of share options
Share-hased payments charge
Balance at 31 March 2022

Note

29

13
29

28
2%

Share-
based Own
Share Share payments shares  Retained
capital premium reserve reserve earnings  Total equity
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
50,068 19,672 1,025 (12) 130,698 201,451
- - - - 13,920 13.920
- - - - 13,920 13,920
- - 560 - - 560
50,068 19,672 1,585 (12) 144,618 215,931
- - - - 59.319 59,319
- - - - 59,319 59,319
- - - - (6,931} (6,93%)
; - - (635) - (535)
- - (959) 547 (160} (572)
- - 4,991 - - 4,991
50,068 19,672 5617 - 196,846 272,203




Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Operating profit

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation

Share-based payments charge

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale
L.0%s on disposal of property plant and eguipment

Profit on disposal and remeasurement of right-of-use assets and

lease liabilities

Loss on impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

Loss on impairment of right-of use assets
Loss on impairment of property, plant and equipment
Profit on disposal of investment property

Cash flows from operating activities before working capital

(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and cother payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

Total cash flows generated by operations

Tax paid

Interest paid on lease liabilities

Other net finance costs

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and software
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Lease payments received under finance lease
Interest received under finance leases

Net proceeds from disposal of investment property

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of assets classified as held for sale

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of barrowings

Repayment of lease liabilities

Dividends paid

Purchase of own shares

Settlement of exercised share awards

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at period end

30

Note

[0}

GO, O OO

14/15

14

13
29
29

20
20

15 months Year ended
ended 31 31 December
March 2022 2020
£'000 £'000
97,256 30,632
34,730 22,515
8,700 668
(86} (1,563)
409 402
(1,843} (318)
- 193

898 527

- 25

(913) (148}
136,951 52,833
13,182 109,154
(32,193) 20,640
21,761 (85,978}
1,880 (654)
141,581 95,995
(16,917) {5,700)
{4177} {3,103)
{8,214) {7.073)
112,274 80,119
(38.817) {(11,722)
(54,352) (2,944)
136 185

95 83
1,780 2,288
2,276 329
712 2,360
{87,970) (9,421)
30,000 40,000
(31,213) (65,641)
(21,133) (11,323)
(6,931) -
(535) -
(638) -
(30,450) {36,964)
(6,146) 33,734
33 844 110
27,698 33,844




Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Net Debt Reconciliation
For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Net (decrease)/increase in net cash and cash equivalents

Proceeds from drawdown of RCF
Repayment of drawdown of RCF
Loans acquired in the period
Repayment of other borrowings
Change in lease liability commitments
Repayment of lease liabilities
{Increase)/decrease in net debt
Opening net debt

Net debt at period end

Lease liabilities
Adjusted net cash at period end (non GAAP measure)

Net debt at period end consists of:

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and borrowings

Lease liabilities
Closing net debt

31

Note

23
23
14
23
30
30

30
30

16

20
23
16
30

15 months Year ended
ended 31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £'000
(6.146) 33,734
(30,000} (40,000)
30,000 65,000
{8.300) -
1,213 641
{131.061) {2,582)
21,133 11,323
(123,160) 68,116
(70,524) (138,640)
(193,684) {70,524)
(209,271) (99,344)
15,587 28,820
27,698 33,844
(12,111) (5,024)
(209,271) {99,344)
(193,684) {70,524}




Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Presentation of the financial statements

General information

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The Company is a
private limited company, limited by shares. The Company is registered in England under the Companies Act 2006
(registration number 02051461) with the address of the registered office being; Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge
CB5 8RY, United Kingdom.

The financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
September 2022

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accerdance with UK-adopted International
Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group’); a
schedule of all subsidiaries is contained in Note 6 'Investments in Subsidiaries’ of the Company financial statements (page
90). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the
revaluation of investment properties and assets held for sale.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Sterling, which is both the functional currency of the Group's
subsidiaries and presentational currency of the Group. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000)
except where otherwise indicated.

UK-Adopted International Accounting Standards

On 31 December 2020 EU-adopted IFRS was transposed into UK law, becoming UK-adopted International Accounting
Standards. From 1 January 2021 all future changes to IFRS are subject to endorsement by the UK Endorsement Board.
These consolidated financiai statements transitioned to being prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International
Accounting Standards with effect from the financial period beginning 1 January 2021. This change constituted a change
in accounting framework. However. given the nature of the change, it has had no impact on recognition, measurement or
disclosure in the period,

Reporting period

On 11 May 2022 the entire share capital of the Company was acquired by CAG Vega 2 Limited, part cf the Canstellation
Automotive Group. In anticipation of this change of ownership, to align the reporting period with that of the acquirer, all
entities in the Group changed the end of the reporting periad from 31 December to 31 March. Amounts presented for the
2022 reporting period are for a 15 month period. Comparative figures per the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Statement of Cash Fiows and related notes are for
a 12 month period.

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis. Having considered the Group's forecast
financial performance and cash flows, and after making appropriate enguiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for at
least one year from the date that these consclidated financial statements are signed. For these reasons, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, these financial statements
do not include any adjustments to the carrying amount or classification of assets and liabilities that would result if the Group
were unable to continue as a going concern.

When making their assessment, the Directors have considered the impacts on profitability of margin reductions prompted
by the eventual easing of existing supply constraints as well as inflationary cest pressures, Furthermore, the impacts on
consumer canfidence of a prolonged economic dowrturn and continuing deterioration of real incomes have been factored
Inte sensitivity scenanos. The Group is continuously monitoring and mitigating, where possible, the impacts of these risks.

Whilst the Graup has net current habilities, the Group has considerable financial resources avallable totalling £88 million
as at 31 March 2022 These consist of £28 million of cash and cash equivalents as well as £60 million of committed, but
undrawn, banking facilities made avatlable under a revelving credit facility agreement due to expire in September 2024,
The revolving credit facility is subject to leverage and fixed charge cover covenants. Forecasts indicate that the Group is
expected 10 be compliant with these covenants throughout the forecast period. In addition, the Group has a number of
term loans secured against certain property assets of the Group under which balances outstanding as at 31 March 2022
total £12 million. Only £1 million of borrowings are repayable within one year.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements

1. Presentation of the financial statements {continued)

Going concern (continued)

To support the Group's working capital position. alongside the above core banking facilities, the Group also has access to
a number of ancillary vehicle inventory funding arrangements of which £413 million were utilised as at 31 March 2022

2. Accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed. or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvernent with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Specifically, the Group contrals an investee if, and only if, the Group has: a) power aver the investee (l.e., existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee), b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and c) the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

In assessing control potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. Generally,
there is @ presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to cne or more of the elements of control detailed
abaove.

The financial information of subsidiaries is included in the consolidated financial information from the date that control
commences until the date that contral ceases. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains controf until the date
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecogrises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilties, non-
controlling interest and other components of equity, white any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Any
investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Transactions efliminated an consolidation

Intragroup balances and any gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated
in preparing the consclidated financial information. Losses are eliminated in the same way as gains but only to the extent
that there is ho evidence of impairment.

Subsidiary audit exemptions
The congolidated financial statements include the results of all subsidiary undertakings owned by the Company as listed
in Note & ‘Investments in Subsidiaries’ on pages 89 and 90.

Certain of the Group's subsidiaries, listed below, have taken the exemption from an audit for the period ended 31 March
2022 by virtue of s479A of the Companies Act 2006, In order to allow these subsidiaries to take the audit exemption, the
parent company, Marshall Motor Holdings Limited, has given a statutory guarantee of all the outstanding liabilities as at
31 March 2022 of the subsidiaries listed below.

The subsidiaries which have taken an exemption from audit for the period ended 31 March 2022 by virtue of s479A of the
Companies Act 2006 are:

Astle Limited (reg no. 01114933) Pentagon Limited {reg nc. 01862751)

Crystal Motor Group Limiled (reg no. 04813767) Prep-Point Limited (reg no. 00660067)

Dealcairn Limited {reg no. 04073914) Ridgeway Bavarian Limited (reg no. 07930214)

Exeter Trade Parls Specialists LLP (reg no. OC329331) Ridgeway TPS Limiled (reg no. 66112651)

Marshall North West Limited (reg no. 00322817) S.G. Smith Automeotive Limited (reg no. 00622112)

Marshall of Cambridge (Garage Properties) Limited {reg no. 02051459} 5.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited {reg no. 00648385)
Marshall of Ipswich Limited (reg nc. 04447940) S.G. Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited (reg ne. 00581711)
Marshall of Peterborough Limited (reg no. 04861074) S.G. Smith (Moters) Forest Hill Limited (reg no. 00581710
Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited (reg no. 01174004) 5.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited (reg no. 01794317}
Marshall of Stevenage Limited {reg no. 06450140} Silver Street Automotive Limited (req no. 00716748)
Motorline TPS Limited (reg no. 10474225) Tim Brinton Cars Limited {reg no. 01041301)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset
or hability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and #ts subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred and are excluded from underlying profit before tax.

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities
unless the fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the value is subsumed into goodwill. With the exception
of lease liabilines and nght-ot-use assets, in a business combinatian all identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
including any contingent liabilities, that meet the recognition criteria under IFRS 3 Business Combinations are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of lease payments under the lease term remaining as at the date of
acquisition. When calculating the present value, the lease liability is discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing
rate as at the date of acquisition, The Group's incremental borrowing rate is used as a proxy for the lessee's rate on the
basis that the interest rate implicit in the lease cannoct be readily determined. The associated right-of-use assets acquired
are recognised at the same value as the lease liability plus any dilapidation provisions. Where there are either favourable
or unfavourable lease terms acquired, adjustment is made to increase or decrease the right-of-use asset balances
respectively.

Non-controliing interests

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition by acquisition basis, either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Measurement period adjustments

The Group assesses the fair value of assets acquired and finalises purchase price allocation within the measurement
period fallowing acquisition and in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. This includes an exercise to evaluate
other material separately identifiable intangible assets such as franchise agreements, favourable leases and order backlog.

The finalisation of purchase price allocations may result in a change in the fair value of assets acquired. In accordance
with IFRS 3 Business Combinations measurement period adjustments are reflected in the financial statements as if the
finat purchase price allocation had been completed at the acquisition date.

Goodwill

Gooawlll arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of, the consideration transferred. the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

Where the fair value of the consideration received is less than the fair value of the acquired net assets, the deficit is
recognised immediately in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as a bargain purchase. Geodwill is
capitalised and subject to an impairment review at least annually and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, when acquired separately from a business combination, include computer software and licences. Cost
comprises purchase price from third parties and amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over the assets’ expected
economic lives, which varies depending cn the nature of the asset. Licenses are amortised over the length of the licence
and software is amortised between 3-5 years.

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination include franchise agreements. These items are capitalised
separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or if the henefit of the intangible asset is obtained through contractual or
other legal rights and if its fair value can be measured reliably on initial recogniticn. Such assets are stated at fair value.
Franchise agreements have an indefinite useful life, therefore are not amortised.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful economic life are tested annually for impairment. Amortisation is included within
net operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income.
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Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and eguipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and less any recognised
impairment loss. Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset te
its working condition for its intended use. When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives those components are accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Subseguent costs are
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cast of the item can be measured reliably.

Depreciation is charged to write assets down to their residual values over ther estimated useful economic lives.
Depreciation is charged ¢n a straight-line basis over the following periods

Leasehold improvements — shorter of the lease term or 10 years
Fixtures and fitings — & years

Computer equipment — 2-5 years

Freehold bulldings — 50 years

Land - indefinite life, not depreciated

Assets under construction - not depreciated.

« 8 & & 9

The residual values and useful economic lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if approgriate, at each balance sheet
date. The gains and losses on disposal of assets are determined by comparing sales proceeds with the carrying amount
of the asset and are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income.

Investment property
Initial recognition

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Investment properties include properties
that are held as right-of-use assets, as well as properties that are owned by the Group.

Subsequent measurement

Land and buitdings are shown at fair value based on formal valuations by external, independent valuers performed at least
every three years and updated each year for the Directors’ estimate of value. Valuations are performed with sufficient
regularity to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. investment
property is not depreciated. Any surplus or deficit on revaluation is taken to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and is not included within undertying profit before tax.

Derecognition

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e. at the date the recipient obtains
control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal.
The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset Is recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period of derecognition. The amount of consideration to be included in the
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of investment property is determinad in accerdance with the requirements for
determining the transaction price under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracls with Customers.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets not subject to amortisation are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows {(cash generating unis).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

Goodwill and franchise agreements acguired in a business combination are allocated to each of the cash generating units.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash
generating units (*CGUs"}, or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The
group of CGUs to which the geodwill and franchise agreements are allocated (being groups of dealerships connected by
manufacturer brand) represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill and franchise agreements are
monitored for internal management purposes.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present
location and condition are included and cost 1s based on price Including delivery costs less specific trade discounts. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling price less further costs to be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for
obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Inventories held on consignment are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet (net of value added taxes), with a
corresponding liability (including value added taxes) when the terms of a consignment agreement and industry practice
indicate that the principal benefit of owning the inventory (the ability to sell it) and principal risks of ownership (stock
financing charges, responsibility for safekeeping and some risk of obsolescence) rest with the Group. Stock financing
charges from manufacturers and other vehicle funding facilities are presented within finance costs. These charges are
expensed over the period that vehicles are funded.

The Group finances the purchase of new and used vehicle inventones using vehicle funding facilities provided by varicus
lenders including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generaily
have a maturity of 90 days or less. The Group is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the sale
of the vehicles that have been funded under the facilites or the stated maturity date. Amounts due to finance companies
in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under vehicle financing arrangements.
Related cash flows are reported within cash flows from operating activities within the Consclidated Statement of Cash
Flows. Vehicle financing facilities are subject to finance house base rate (or similar) interest rates. The interest incurred
under these arrangements is included within finance costs and classified as stock halding interest.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and cash in hand.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This classification is used where a sale is considered highly probable.
Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less costs to sell. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell of an asset is recognised where it is not in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss which has been previously recognised. Non-current assets are not depreciated while they are classified
as held for sale. Assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from cther asset classes in the current assets
section of the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

On completion of the sale transaction, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset is recognised within Net Operating Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
of de-recognition.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they originated. Trade receivanles are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or for services performed by the Group in the ordinary course of business. Credit terms are less than one year,
as such they are recognised as current assets.

All other financial assets are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

On initial recognition, a financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for a financial asset net at fair value reported in profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component 1s initially measured at
the transaction price.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement

A financial asset 15 classified either as being; measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), or measured at amortised cost. The classification depends on the Group's business
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

All financial assets of the Group are classified as measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to therr initiat recognition unless the Group changes its business model
for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the fellowing conditions and is not designated as at fair
value reparted in profit or loss:

* itis held within a business model whose cbjective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
* its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest inceme, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairments are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-recognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecagnition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of
the risks ang rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortsed cost are credit-impaired. A
financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when ane or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occyred. .

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are wiitten off could still be subject to enforcement activities in arder to comply with the Group's procedures for
recovery of amounts due.

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at amortised cost.
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses, Credit losses are measured at the present value of all cash
shortfalls {i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Greup in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive), ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. Loss allowances
for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

Loss allowances for finance lease receivables are measured by reference to default events that are possible within 12
months cof the reporting date on the basis that the credit risk since initial recognition has not been subject to significant
increase.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are measured using a simplified approach based on the lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date, An assessment of the Iifetime ECLs is calculated using a provision matrix model to estimate the loss rates
to be applied to each trade receivable categary.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilites as measured at amortised cost. The classification of financial instruments is
determined at inttial recognition in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement into which the Group
has entered.

Financial liabilites measured at amortised cost include non-derivative financial liabilities which are held at original cost,
less amortisation. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost compnse mainly trade ang other payables and
borrowings (see below for the separate accounting policies for each specific financial liability).

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet when,
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures non-financial assets such as investment properties, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liahility takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market. in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantagecus
market must be accessible by the Graup.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a
nen-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate ecanomic benefits by using the asset inits
highest and best use ar by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation technigues that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair valug, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value 1s measured or disclesed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based cn the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

as a whole:

- Level 1 — Quoted {unadjusted) markel prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

- Level 2 — Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant ta the fair value measurement is directly ar indirectly
observable R

+ Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between ievels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whele) at the end of each reparting period.

External valuers are involved for valuation of investment properties and assets hela for sale. At each reporting date, the
Directors consider movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed
as per the Group's accounting policies. For this analysis, the Directors consider the major inputs applied in the latest
valuation Dy reviewing the information in the valuation computation to valuation reports and other relevant documents.

The Directars, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compare the change in the fair value of each asset
and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the
nature, charactenstics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or where
fair values are disclosed, are summarised in Note 27 ‘Fair Value Measurement'.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in
share premium as a deduction from the proceeds.
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Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Group’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Group's shareholders. Interim dividends are recogrised when they are paid,

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business.
These are classified as current liabilities if payment is due in one year or less. If payment is due at a later date they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables'are recognised nttially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
Interest rate method.

Trade payables include the fiability for vehicles (inclusive of value added taxes) held on consignment with the
corresponding asset included within inventories (exclusive of value added taxes).

Borrowings

Borrowings comprise asset backed finance, mortgages and bark borrowings; they are recognised initialty at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds
{net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Bank overdrafts, which farm an integral part of the Group's cash management, are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of presentation in the Consoclidated Statement of Cash Flows. Bank overdrafts are
presented within cash and cash equivalents in current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Consalidated Balance Sheet when the Group has: a presentlegal or constructive obligation
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estmate can be made of the obligation. If the effect is material provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and,
when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due te the passage of time is recognised
in finance costs.

Dilapidation provision

The Group operates from a number of leasehold premises and is typically required by the terms of the lease to restore
leased premises to their original condition on vacation of the premises at the end of the lease term. Estimates of dilapidation
costs are calculated in accordance with the specific remediation requirements stipulated in each lease contract. At the
paint at which these remediation costs can be reliably estimated, a provision is recognised.

Restructuring (closed sites) provision

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised at the point when a detailed restructuring plan is in place and the Group
has either started tc implement the plan or has announced the main features of the plan to those affected. Restructuring
provisions include only direct expenditures necessarily entailed by the restructuring.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration received or receivable as specified in a contract with a customer and
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. Revenue
excludes amounts collected on hehalf of third parties. Revenue comprises sales and charges for vehicles sold and services
rendered during the period, excluding intercompany sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when It transfers control over a product or service to a customer, as described below.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Sale of motor vehicles, parts and aftersales services

The Group generates revenue through the sale of new and used mator vehicles and through the provision of aftersales
services in the form of vehicle servicing, maintenance, parts and repairs. The Group recognises revenue from the sale of
new and used motor vehictes when a customer takes possession of the vehicle, at which point they have an ebligation to
pay in full and as such control is considered to transfer at this point. The Group typically receives cash equal to the invoice
amount for most direct retail sales to consumers at the time the consumer takes possession of the vehicle. VWhen the
consumer has taken out a finance agreement to purchase the vehicle, in most instances the Group receives payment from
the finance company at the tme the consumer takes possession of the vehicle. Payment terms on sales to corporate
customers typically range from 7 to 60 days. The Group recognises revenue from the provision of aftersales services when
the service has been completed. at which point customers have an obligation to pay in full. The Group typically receives
cash equal to the inveice amount for most direct retail sales to consumers at the time the service has been completed.
Payment terms on sales to corporate customers typically range from 30 to 80 days.

Sale of warranty products

Income received in respect of warranty pelicies sold and administered by the Group is recognrised over the period during
which a customer can exercise their rights under the warranty; as such, revenue Is recognised over the period of the policy
on a straight line basis.

Commission income

The Group receives commissions when it arranges vehicle financing and related insurance products for its customers to
purchase its products and services, acting as agent on behalf of various finance and insurance companies. Commissions
are based on agreed rates.

Where the Group acts as an agent or behalf of a principal, the associated income is recognised within revenue on
completion of the arranging of the various products (i.e., at the point at which control passes to the customer).

Certain commissions are received in advance of the custemer buying the associated finance or insurance products from
the Group as agent. The advance commissions are paid upfront and typically relate to periods of two to three years,
depending on the arrangement. The advance commissions are recognised in revenue when sales of finance or insurance
products are made. This can be aver a year after the receipt of the advance.

There is not deemed to be a financing component because, being an agency arrangament, the timing of the recognition
of the commission income varies on the basis of the occurrence of future events that are not substantially within the control
of the customer or the Group. Consequently, the Group does nat adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.

Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is recognised in revenue on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease. Rental income is not disclosed separately from revenue from contracts with customers in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income due to the immaterialty of this income stream.

Contract liabilities

Where the Group receives an amount of consideration in advance of completion of perfermance obligations under a
contract with a customer, the value of the advance consideration is initially recognised as a contact liability in liabilities.
Revenue is subsequently recognised as the performance obligations are completed over the period of the contract {i.e.,
as contrel is passed to the customer). Contract liabilittes are presented within trade and other payables in the Consalidated
Balance Sheet and disclosed in Note 22 ‘Trade and Other Payables”.

Contract costs

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of IFRS 15 and recognises the incremental costs of abtaining
contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortisation pericd of the assets that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is one year or less.

Transaction price allocation to remaining perfermance obligations

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about remaining
performance obligations that have original expected durations of one year or less.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue recognised from contracts with customers has been disaggregated into categories that depict how the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. This disclosure, as well as
the reconciliation between the disaggregated revenue disclosures and the revenue figures disclosed for each of the
Group's reportable segments, is made in Note 5 'Segmental Information’.

Supplier income

The Group recelves income from brand pariners and other suppliers. The Group receives income from its suppliers based
on specific agreements in place. These are generally based on achieving certain objectives such as specific sales volumes
and maintaining agreed operational standards. This supplier income received is recognised as a deduction from cost of
sales at the point when it is reasonably certain that the targets have been achieved for the relevant period and when
income can be measured reliably based on the terms of each relevant supplier agreement.

Supplier income that has been earned but not invoiced at the balance sheet date Is recognised in other receivables and
primarily relates to volume-based incentives that run up to the period end.

Government grants

Government grarts are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached
conditions will be complied with. All such grants relate to expense items. The grantis recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

The grant income is disclosed in Net Operating Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Leases
Group as lessee
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it s located, less any
lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset
is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term that
have not been paid at the lease commencement date. When calculating the present value, the lease liability is discounted
using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate because the interest rate implicit in the lease cannct be readily determined.
The incremental orrowing rate for the Group is used as a proxy for the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate on the basis
that treasury functions are managed centrally and subsidiary entities’ access to facilites is via pooled, group-wide
arrangements.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, intially measured using the index or rate as at the lease
commencement date; and

- lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option.

The lease liability is measured at amoertised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, If there is a change in the Group's estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee or if the Group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset or is recarded In profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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Leases (continued)
Graup as lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. Short-term leases are those that do not contain a purchase opticn and have a lease term of 12 months or
less, Low value assels are those with a value befow £5,000. The Group recagnises on a straight-line basis over the fease
term the lease payments associated with these leases in net operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income. )

Group as lessor

The Group only acts as a lessor in the context of sub-lease arrangements. When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it
accounts for its interests inthe head lease and the sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease
as being either a finance lease or an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
not with reference to the underlying asset. To classify each sub-lease, an overall assessment is made as to whether the
lease transfers to the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership incidental to ownership of the right-of-
use asset. Ifthis is the case, then the lease I1s a finance lease; if not, then itis an operating lease. As part of this assessment,
the Group considers certain indicaters such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset. If
a head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the short-term lease exemption described above, then it
clasgsifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

if an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to allocate the consigeration in the contract.

The Group recagnises lease payments received under aperating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term as part revenue in the Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans through which the Group allows
employees to receive shares in the Company. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (calculated
excluding the effect of service and non-market based performance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-
based payment charge to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted and is
recognised as an employee expense within underlying earnings, with a corresponding increase in equity.

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period (being the period over
which all vesting conditions are to be satisfied). An award subject to graded vesting is accounted for as though it were
multiple, separate awards, the number of awards keing determined in direct correlation to the number of instalments in”
which the options vest.

The share-based payment charge is based on the Group's estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest. At
each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
non-market performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Group's remuneration policy gives the
Remuneration Committee discretion to revise performance conditions to adjust for the impact of Greup restructurings and
reorganisations on incentive outcomes. The impact of any revisions to original vesting estimates or performance conditions
is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Social security contributions payable in connection with share options granted are considered to be an integral part of the
grant and are, therefore, treated as cash-settled transactions. For cash settled share-based payments, the Group
recognises a liability for the services acquired, measured initially at the fair value of the liability. This liability is re-measured
at each balance sheet date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in farr value recognised in the Consolidated
Staterment of Comprehensive Income.

When options are exercised, the Company 1ssues new shares, These shares are gifted to the Employee Benefit Trust by
the Company at nominal value. The cost of these shares is recognised as a reduction to equity in the own shares reserve.
When the options are exercised and the shares transferred to the employees, the cost on the own shares reserve is
transferred to equity.

When options issued by the Employee Benefit Trust are exercised the own shares reserve is reduced and a gain or loss
is recognised in reserves based on proceeds less weighted-average cost of shares initially purchased now exercised.

Where shares options are forfeited, effective from the date of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge previcusly
recagnised in both the current and prior periods in refation to these options is reversed though the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income with a corresponding adjustment through the Consoldated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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Net finance costs

The Group has no borrowing costs with respect to the acquisition or construction of gualifying assets, therefore, no
borrowing costs are capitalised. Qualifying items of property, plant and equipment are considered to be those which take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use. These would include assets which are under construction
for periods in excess of a year: the Group’s dealership develapment programmes are not considered to qualify.

Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, lease liabilities, stock financing charges and other interest.

Finance income
Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and finance lease receivables Interest income is
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues using the effective interest method.

Taxation

The taxation charge comprises corporation tax payable, deferred tax and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Current taxation

The current tax payable is based on the Group’s taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expenditure that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items of income or expenditure that are never faxable income or tax deductible
expenditure. The Group's liahility for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted cor substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
taxation is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recagnition of cther assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred tax liabilities
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utlised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

The Group's deferred tax balances are calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and that are expected to apply in the period when the liability s settled or the assetis realised. Deferred
tax Is charged or credited in the income statement, except where it relates to items charged or credited directly to other
comprehensive income of equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity
respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable nght to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net
basis.

Pensions

The Group participates in a number of defined contribution schemes for its employees. A defined contribution pension
scheme is a pension plan under which the empleyer and employee pay contributions into a separate fund managed and
administered by a third party. The employer has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay employees the benefits relating to their service and contributions in current and prior
pericds.

Where the Group makes empleyer pension contributions. such contributions are charged to the Consclidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income as they become payable in accordance with the rules of each scheme.
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Alternative performance measures

Non-underlying items

Certain items recognised in reported profit or loss before tax can vary significantly from year to year, therefore, these
create volatility in reported earnings which does not refiect the Group's underlying performance. The Directors believe that
the ‘underlying profit before tax’ and ‘underlying basic earnings per share’ measures presented provide a clear and
consistent presentation of the underlying performance of the Group's on-going business for shareholders. Underlying profit
1s not defined under IFRS, therefore, it may rot be directly comparable with the ‘adjusted’ profit measures of other

companies.

Non-underlying items are defined as follows:

- Acyuisition costs;

- Profits/losses arising on clesure or disposal of businesses;

- Restructuring and reorganisation costs — these are one-off in nature and do not relate to the Group's underlying
performance;

— Investment property fair value movements — these reflect the difference between the fair value of an investment
property at the reporting date and its carrying amount at the previous reporting date;

—  One-off tax items and pension charges, and

—  Assetimpairments.

Adjusted net debt
The Directors believe that the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases distorts the value of reported net debt. Therefore,

the measure of ‘adjusted net debt’ is used to present consistent, comparative information.

3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consohdated
financiat statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted bg; the Group

The following amendments to existing standards became effective in January 2021 and have been adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for the first time during the period ended 31 March 2022.

» Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Two other amendments to existing standards apply for the first ime with effect from 1 January 2021; however, they are
not applicable to the consclidated financial statements of the Group.

Impact on current period of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 18

These amendments provide temporary reliefs that address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate

(IBOR) is replaced with an alternative, nearly risk-free interest rate. The amendments include the following practical

expedients.

s Changes to contractual cash flows

> A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by the
reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate. eguivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest.
The reliefs have the effect that the changes that are required by an interest rate benchmark reform (that is,
changes that are necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform and are economically equivalent) will not
result in an immediate gain or loss being recognised in the Income Statement.

« Hedge accounting:
o A practical expedient to permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge

documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued, and
- A practical expedient to provide temparary relief from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when
a risk-free interest rate instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component,

The Group wili apply the practical expedient in relaton to changes in contractual cash flows to all applicable lease
contracts, funding facilities and discount rate calculations that reference, or are indexed to, an IBOR rate. These
amendments have been assessed as having no significant financial or disclosure impact on the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.
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3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

Impact on current period of the adoption of new standards, amendments and interpretations
(continued)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (continued)
The Group does not have fixed-rate funding that is hedged using IBOR-based derivatives or any cther hedging

refationships, therefore, the reliefs available for hedge accounting are not applicable to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

The Group intends to use these practical expedients in future periods if and when they become applicable.

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issuge, but were not yet effective at the balance sheet
date. These have not yet been endorsed by the UK Endorsement Board. These standards have not been applied when
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2022.

It is not anticipated that application of the below will have a significant financiat or disclosure impact in future periods.

Effective for
accounting periods
.Date issued _beginning on or after

[ — . e ——

'Amendments tc IFRS 3 Business Combinations
- Updated reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting. ; May 2020 1 January 2022

Amendments to |1AS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
- Clarxﬂcatlon of the nature of costs of fulfilling a contract that are in scope when May 2020 1 January 2022
making an onerous contract assessment.

Amendments to |1AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment .
- G_mdance determmlng ?he treatment of sales proceeds while production assets are May 2020 1 January 2022
being prepared for their intended use.

IFRS 17 Insurance Coniracts ;
- New standard replacung IFRS 4._ Sets out thg principles for the recognition, May 2017 1 January 2023
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts.

Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts .
- Na(row scope amendhjent to the trans_ntlon requnre_ments creating a policy option in June 2020 1 January 2023
relation {o the presentation of comparative information.

Amendments to |IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements ;
- Changes to the requirements in respect of the disclosure of accounting policies. . February 2021 1 January 2023

Amendments to |IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors

- Clarification of the definition of an accounting estimate and the circumstances that February 2021 1 January 2023
constitute a change in estimate.

Amendments to IAS 12 income Taxes
- Clar\ﬁcatlon of }he appllcapon of the Irlutlal recognltlgn exemption o deterred tax ! May 2021 1 January 2023
assets and liabilities that arise from a single transaction.

Amendments to 1AS 1 Presentation of Finarncial Statements
- Clarification of the conditions required to be met in order to classify liabilities, notably January 2620 No earlier than
debt with covenants, as either current or non-current. v 1 January 2024
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4. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the future when applying the Group's
accounting policies (as detalled in Note 2 ‘Accounting Policies’) to determine the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses reported in the consalidated financial statements. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates.

The Directors regularly review these judgements, estimates and assumptions and any resulting revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised. If the change in estimation affects future accounting
periods, the revision is recognised in the current and future periods.

Critical accounting judgements

The accounting judgements and assumptions (excluding those which also involve estimates which are covered in the key
sources of estimation uncertainty section below) included in the consclidated financial statements which have a material
impact on armounts reported are as detailed below.

Determination of indefinite useful economic life

Goodwill and franchise agreements are intangible assets acquired through business combinations. An asset is considered
to have an indefinite useful economic life if there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to
generate net cash inflows for the Group. The useful economic life of goodwill and franchise agreements is determined at
the point of initial recognition. Each franchise agreement is different; each contract being for varying durations, with varying
renewal or termination options. Previous franchise agreements acquired have historically either been renewed without
substantial cost or not had termination options exercised by the Group. This past experience, coupled with the strength of
the Group's relationships with brand partners, determines that these assets have indefinite useful econemic tives.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The accounting estimates included in the consolidated financial statements which have a material impact on amounts
reported are as detailed below.

Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment
Goodwill is deemed to have an indefinite useful economic life and is, therefore, not amortised. As a result, the Group
reviews goodwill for impairment on at least an annual basis and more frequently where there are indicators of potential
impairment, The impairment review requires the value-in-use of each CGU to be estimated; these calculations are based
on a number of assumptions. Areas of significant judgement include:

- the estimation of future cash flows

- the selection of risk and the estimation of risk adjustment factors to be applied to cash flows

- the selection of an appropriate discount rate to calculate present value

- the selection of an appropriate terminal growth rate.

The assumptions used in the impairment test are detailed in Note 14(c) ‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets’. The
assumptions relating to future cash flows, estimated useful economic lives and discount rates are based on forecasts and
are, therefore, inherently judgemental. Future events could result in the assumptions used needing to be revised, changing
the outcome of the impairment test and resulting in impairment charges being recognised.

Inventory valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost ang their net realisable value (being the fair value of the motor vehicles
less costs ta sell). Fair values are assessed using reputable industry valuation data which is based upon recent industry
activity and forecasts. Whilst this data is deemed representative of the current value of vehicles held in inventory it is
possible that the price at which the vehicles are actually sold will differ from the vehicles’ industry valuations. Where this
is the case, adjustments arise in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on the sale of vehicles held in
inventory.

Industry valyations are sensitive ta rapid changes in regulatory and market conditions that are difficult to anticipate. In light
of the materiality of the inventory balance in the Consaclidated Balance Sheet, this uncertainty is considered to represent
a key source of estimation uncertainty, The inventory provision as at 31 March 2022 represents 4,1% of the gross inventory
balance (31 December 2020: 3.1%). This increase is due to a combination of the unusual market conditions during the
period whereby used vehicle prices appreciated coupled with an expectation of lower pricing during the second half of
2022 triggered by a deterioration in economic condtions, notably consumer confidence. A 50bps (20200 100bps) change
in this ratio would change the provision in the Consolidated Balance Sheet by approximately £2.5 million (2020: £3.8
million). A 50bps movement represents a reascnably possible change to the provision ratic based on average movements
cbserved over the previous three periods.
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5. Segmental Information

IFRS 8 Operating Segrnents requires operating segments to be consistent with the internal management reporting
provided te the Chief Operating Decision Makers who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the operating segments. The Group considers the Board of Directors to be the Chief Operating Decision
Makers.

The Group has identified its key product and service lines as being its operating segments because both performance and
strategic decisions are analysed at this level. The IFRS 8 aggregation criteria have heen met as a result of the Group's
key product and service lines sharing common characteristics such as; similar types of customer for the products and
services, simiar nature of the product and service offerings, similar methods used to distribute the products and provide
the services and similar regulatory and economic environment. As a result of these criteria being satisfied, the Group's
operating segments constitute gne repartable segment (retail) and all segmental information has been disclosed as such.
The retail segment includes sales of new and used vehicles, together with the associated ancillary aftersales services of,
servicing, body shop repairs and parts sales.

The Group has concluded that rental income arising from investment properties does not meet the quantitative thresholds
required to constitute a reportable segment as defined in IFRS 8. Due to the non-material nature of these amounts, they
are combined with the retail segment rather than being disclosed separately. As a result, all of the Group’s activities are
disclosed within the ane reportaple segment — the retail segment.

Geographical information
Revenue earned from sales is disclosed by origin and is not materially different from revenue by destination. All of the

Group's revenue is generated in the United Kingdom.

Information about reportable segment
All segment revenue, profit before taxation, assets and liabllities are attributable to the principal activity of the Group being
the provision of car and cammercial vehicle sales, vehicle service and other related services.

Far the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 Revenue Gross profit

£'000 mix* £'000 mix*
New vehicles 1,565,235 40.7% 125,228 27.4%
Used vehicles 1,889,096 49.2% 147,598 32.3%
Aftersales 386,405 10.1% 184,012 40.3%
Internak/cther (792,854) - 440 -
Total 3,760,882 100% 457,278 100%
For the year ended 31 December 2020 Revenue Gross profit

£'000 mix* £'000 mix*
New vehicles 988,093 44 9% 65,086 27.4%
Used vehicles 971.135 44 1% 63712 26.8%
Aftersales 240,589 11.0% 108,573 45.8%
Internal/other (45,402 - 81¢ -
Total 2,154,415 100% 238,190 100%

* Mix calculation excludes internal/other.
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6. Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging / {crediting):

15 months Year ended
ended 31 31 December
March 2022 2020
£'000 £000
Depreciation of praperty, plant and equipment (note 15) 15,408 10,719
Amortisation of other intangibles {note 14) 375 448
Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale (note 7) (86) {1,563}
Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment 409 402
linpaiment of property, plant and equipment (note 1b) - 25
Profit on disposal of investment property (note 17) (813) (148)
Intangible assets impairment {note 14} - 193
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 16) 18,947 11,348
Profit on disposal and remeasurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (note 16) (1,843) (318}
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {note 16) 698 527
Income received from subleasing right-of-use assets {note 16) {231) (185)
7. Non-underlying items
15 months
ended 31 Year ended
March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £000
Continuing operations
Acquisition costs (3.476) (13}
Restructuring costs (7.732) (2,670}
Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale 85 1,563
Profit on disposal of investment property 913 148
Loss on impairment of goodwill and other tangible assets - (218)
(10,209} {590)

Details of current and deferred tax arising in relation to all income and expenditure classified as Non-Underlying Items are
disclosed in Note 11(b} 'Taxation’.

Acquisition costs
See Note 14(a) 'Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets' for further details of transactions giving rise to the acquisition costs.

Restructuring costs

Restructuring costs consist of costs of £1,467,000 associated with the closure of eight of the Group's franchised
dealerships primarily resulting from a review of the Group's portfolio following the acquisition of the Motorline businesses
during the period as well as the continuation of costs resulting from portfolio reorganisations disclosed in previous periods
of £119.000 (year ended 31 December 2020: £2,070,000).

Also presented in restructuring costs are £444 000 of systems enhancement expenditure, costs associated with the
integration of the Motorline businesses totalling £669,000 as well as £5,031,000 incurred in the period in association with
the Group's change of ownership. See Note 34 'Events after the Reporting Period’ for further details around the transaction
resulting in the change of ownership and the resultant impacts.
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7. Non-underlying items (continued}

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale
In February 2021 the Group sold the freshold property and the long-ieasehold property classified as held for sale for a
combined profit of £86,000.

In June 2020 the Group sold the freehold property classified as held for sale for a profit of £1,563.000.

Profit on disposal of investment property

In February 2021 the Group sold the last two premises remaining in its investment property portfolio for a combined profit
of £913,000. Included within this profit on disposal is the lease premium received for transfer of title in the long-leasehold
premises.

In November 2020 the Group scld a freehold investment property for a prefit of £148,000.

Loss on impairment of goodwill and other tangible assets
No impairments have been recognised during the 15 month peried ended 31 March 2022,

At 31 December 2020 the Group recorded a non-cash impairment charge of £218,000; allocated as £193,000 against
goodwill and £25,000 against plant and equipment assigned to the Vauxhall CGU. This impairment arose following the

closure of the Group's Knebworth Vauxhall site in 2020 and a further deterioration in the performance of the two remaining
sites, such that the projected cash flows were no longer sufficient to support the CGU's carrying value.

8. Auditor's remuneration

During the period, the Group abtained the following services from the Group's auditor:

15 months Year ended
ended 31 December
. 31 March 2022 2020
£'000 £000
Audit services:
- fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the parent
Company and consolidated financial statements 250 242
- audit of Group’'s subsidiaries 196 60
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for other services: :
- review of interim condensed consolidated financial statements 39 39
Total auditor's remuneration 525 341
9. Employees and directors
a} Employee costs for the Group during the period
The aggregate remuneration of employees and directors was:
15 months Year ended
ended 31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 213,485 134,917
Social security contributions and similar taxes 22,639 15,198
Cther pension costs 4,392 2,993
Share based payments 6,700 561
247,216 153,669

Employee costs stated above exclude grant income received under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (15 months
ended 31 March 2022: £nil (all amounts claimed were repaid in full in the period), year ended 31 December 2020
£20,376,000).
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9. Employees and directors (continued)

a) Employee costs for the Group during the period (continued)

Employee costs are included in:

15 months Year ended
ended 31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £000
Cost of sales 36,877 24,654
Net operating expenses - 210,339 129,015
247,216 153,669
The average number of employees (inciuding Executive Directors) was:
1§ months Year ended
ended 31 December
31 March 2022 2020
Retail 5,356 4191

The average number of Group employees excludes temporary and contract staff. As at 31 March 2022 the Group had
5,376 employees (31 December 2020 3,691).

b} Directors’ emoluments

Remuneration n respect of the Directors was as follows:

15 months Year ended

ended 31 31 December

March 2022 2020

£'000 £000

Directors’ emoluments 2,475 1,078
Other pension costs 115 30 .

2,590 1,168

During the peried one Director (year ended 31 December 2020: one) participated in a defined contribution pension scheme.
During both the current and prior periods two Directors were granted options under the Group's Performance Share Plan.
During the period, one of the Directors (year ended 31 December 2020 none) exercised share options granted in previous
periods for a total gain of £633,000.

The amounts set out above include remuneration in respect of the highest paid Director as follows:

Year ended

15 months ended 31 December

31 March 2022 2020

£'000 £'000

Director's emoluments 1,360 442
Other pension costs 87 68
Gains on exercise of share options 6533 -
2,080 510
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9. Employees and directors (continued)

c) Key management compensation

The following table detarls the aggregate compensation paid in respect of key management personnel — which comprises

both senior management who sit on the enlarged operational board and statutory directors.

15 months Year ended
ended 31 December
31 March 2022 2020
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 8.841 3577
Sorial security contributions and similar taxes 1,316 1,055
Post-employment penefits 208 128
Compensation for loss of office - 96
Share-based payments 6,700 561
17,065 5417
Details of the share option schemes are provided in Note 29 ‘Share-Based Payments’.
10. Net finance costs
15 months Year ended
ended 31 December
31 March 2022 2020
£000 £000
Finance lease interest receivable (95) (83)
Stock financing charges and other interest 5,845 5417
Interest payable on lease liabilities 4,177 3,103
Interest payable on bank borrowings 2,369 1,739
Net finance ¢osts 12,296 10,176
11. Taxation
a) Taxation charge
15 months Year ended
ended 31 31 December
March 2022 2020
£'000 £000
Current tax
Current tax on profit for the period 17,181 3,855
Adjustments in respect of prior years 17 (154)
Total current tax charge 17,198 3,701
Deferred tax
Grigination and reversal of temporary differences 1.643 256
impact of change in tax rates 7,264 2,380
Adjustments in respect of prior years 136 99
Total deferred tax charge (note 25) 8,443 2,735
Total taxation charge 25,641 6,436

The income tax charge in both the current and pnor period 1s attributable to profit from continuing operations.
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11. Taxation (continued)

b) Reccnciliation of taxation charge

The tax charge for the penod differs from the standard rate of corperation tax in the UK of 19%. The differences are
explained below:

15 months ended Year ended 31
31 March 2022 December 2020
£'000 Y% £'000 %
Profit before taxation 84,960 20,356
Notional taxation charge at corporation tax rate of 19% (2020: 19%) 16,142 19.0% 3,868 19.0%
Effects of:
Tax effect of tems not deductible for tax purposes'’ 2,147  2.5% 536 2.6%
Profit on disposal of non-qualifying assets (65) (0.1%;) (284) (1.4%)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 153 0.2% (55) (0.3%)
Utilisation of brought forward losses previously unrecognised - - (9) (0.1%)
Deferred tax charge relating to increase in tax rates 7,264  8.5% 2,380 11.7%
Taxation charge and effective tax rate 25,641 30.2% 6,436 31.6%

1 Expenses not deductible predommantly cansist of depreciation charges en non-qualifying assets.

The analysis of the Group's effective tax rate between underlying and non-underlying activities is as follows:

15 months ended 31 March 2022 Year ended 31 December 2020
Underlying underlr;?nng; Total Underlying under::l?nng; Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Profit before taxation 95,169 (10,209} 84,960 20,946 (590) 20 356
Taxation 19,031 6,610 25,641 4,425 2,011 6,436
Effective tax rate 20.0% (64.7%) 30.2% 21.1% (340.8%) 31.6%

Non-recurring items

The Group's total effective tax rate for the 15 month period ended 31 March 2022 of 30.2% was influenced by the deferred
taxaticn charge arising following the legislative change substantively enacted during the period as well as by non-
deductible legal arnd professional fees associated with acquisitions in the period. Excluding the impact of these items, the
total effective tax rate for the period would have been 19.6%, consistent with the Group's underlying effective tax rate of
20.0%.

The total reported effective tax rate includes a deferred tax charge of £7,264,000 resuiting from the remeasurement of
opening deferred tax balances following the substantive enactment of the planned increase in the standard rate of
corporation tax to 25% from April 2023. The comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2020 included a deferred
taxation charge of £2,373,000 due to the planned rate reduction to 17% no longer taking effect. In both the current and
prior period, the deferred taxation charges arising due to the remeasurement of opening deferred tax balances is presented
in Non-Underlying ltems on the basis that these charges are a consequence of legislative changes.

The Group's total effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2020 of 31.8% was influenced by the deferred taxation
charge arising due to the remeasurement of the Group's deferred taxation balances, required fallowing the legislative
change substantively enacted during the year. The total effective tax rate was alsc impacted by the non-deductible goodwill
impairment charge and profits on disposal of freehold property. Excluding the impact of these items, the total effective tax
rate for 2020 would have been 21.1%. This was consistent with the Greup's underlying effective tax rate of 21.1%.
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11. Taxation (continued)

¢} Factors affecting the taxation charge of future periods

Future tax charges, therefore the Group's effective tax rate, may be affected by factors such as acquisitions, disposals.
restructuring and tax regime reforms.

In the Budget of 3 March 2021, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a 6% increase in the standard rate of
corporation tax, which will be applicable in the financial year beginning 1 April 2023. This change in the rate of corporation
tax to 25% will affect the amount of future tax payments for which the Group will be responsibie. Being substantively
enacted, this rate change has already been reflected in the measurement of the Group's deferred tax assets and liabilities.

12. Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to eguity sharehelders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period and by the diluted weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue n the period. The diluted weighted average is calculated taking account of the dilutive impact of
shares under option of 3,028,808 at 31 March 2022 (31 December 2020: 2,926,659).

Underlying earnings per share are based on basic earnings per share adjusted for the impact of non-underlying items.

15 months Year ended
ended 31 December
31 March 2022 2020
£'000 £000
Underlying net profit attributable to equity helders of the parent 76,138 16,521
Non-underlying items after tax (16,819) {2,601}
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 59,319 13,920
15 months Year ended
ended 31 December
31 March 2022 2020
Thousands Thousands

Number of shares “
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic EPS 78,232 76,232
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options 2,682 1,882
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted EPS 80,914 80,114
15 months Year ended
ended 31 December
31 March 2022 2020
Pence Pence
Basic underlying earnings per share g97.3 211
Basic earnings per share 75.8 17.8
Diluted underlying earnings per share 941 20.6
Diluted earnings per share 73.3 17.4

13. Dividends

An interim dividend in respect of the 15 maonths ended 31 March 2022 of £6, 931,000 representing a payment of 8.86p per

ordinary share in issue at that time was paid in September 2021.

Following the Company’s change from a public listed company to a private limited company, a final dividend in respect of

the 15 month period ended 31 March 2022 is not proposed.

in light of the circumstances resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. neither an interim nor a final dividend in respect of

the year ended 31 December 2020 was proposed and paid.
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14. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Franchise
Goodwill agreements Software Total
E'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 50,154 77173 2,531 129,858
Additions - - 108 108
Additions on acquisition 724 350 - 1,074
Disposals - - (632) (632)
At 31 December 2020 50,878 77,523 2,007 130,408
Opening balance adjustment - - 1,130 1,130
At 1 January 2021 50,878 77,523 3,137 130,408
Additions - - a4 84
Agdditions on acquisition 11,167 45,715 - 56,882
Disposals - - {15) {15)
At 31 March 2022 62,045 123,238 3,206 188,489
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2020 9,302 - 1.296 10,598
Charge for the year - - 448 448
Disposals - - (364) {364)
Impairment 193 - - 193
At 31 December 2020 9,495 - 1,380 10,875
Opening balance adjustment - - 1,130 1,130
At 1 January 2021 9,495 - 2,510 10,875
Charge for the period - - 375 375
Disposals - - (15) (15)
At 31 March 2622 9,495 - 2,87¢ 12,365
Net book value
At 1 January 2020 40,852 77173 1,235 119,260
At 31 December 2020 41,383 77,523 627 119,533
At 31 March 2022 52,550 423,238 336 176,124

a) Acquisitions — current period

On 24 May 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of two Jaguar Land Rover dealerships in Cheltenham ang
Gloucester. On 30 June 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of a Nissan dealership in Leicester. These
acquisitions, by extending representation with existing trands in strategically impertant territories, are part of the Group's
stated strategy to grow further scale with existing brand partners i new geographic territories.

The estimated identifiable assets and liabilities at the dates of acquisition are stated at their provisional fair values as set

out below. The goodwill arising on these acquisitions is attributed to the expected synergies and benefits associated with
the increased brand representation.
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14. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

a) Acquisitions — current period (continued)
The fair value of the net assets at the date of the acquisition are as set cut below.

NBYV of
net assets Fair value

acquired adjustments Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Property, ptant and equipment 7,730 {27) 7.703
Right-of-use assets 370 125 495
Inventories 3,028 3,028
Trade and other payables {315) (204) (519)
Lease ligbilities (370) - {370)
Deferred tax liabilities - (371) (371)
Provisions (125) (125) (250)
Net assets acquired 10,318 (602) 9,716
Gogdwill 334 602 936
Total cash consideration 10,652 - 10,652

The results of these dealerships have been consolidated into the Group's results from the relevant date of acquisition. For
the pericd from acquisition to 31 March 2022, the revenues and the losses before tax generated by these dealerships were
immaterial in the context of the Group’s revenues and profit before tax.

If the acquisitions had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period in which the acquisitions occurred (1 January
2021), on a pro forma basis, the change in revenue and profit before tax of the combined Group for the 15 months ended
31 March 2022 would have been immaterial in the context of the Group.

On 14 October 2021, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Motorline Holdings Limited, a leading multi-
franchise dealer group of companies headquartered in Canterbury and operating across Kent, West Sussex, Surrey,
Berkshire, Bristol, South Wales and the West Midlands. This acqmsmon is in line with the Group's strategy, which mcludes
growing scale with its chosen brand partners. d

The estimated identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition are stated at their provisional fair value as set out
below. The goodwill arising on acquisition is attributed to the expected synergies and benefits associated with the
increased brand representation and extends the Group's geographic footprint into a further esght counties with the Group
now having representation in 37 counties in England and Wales.

Fair value of

Net hook Fair value net assets
value adjustments acquired
£'000 £'000 £'000

Intangible assets - 45,715 45,715
Property, plant and equipment 28,800 - 28,800
Right-of-use assets 119,830 - 119,830
Inventories 96,423 (3,101 93,322
Trade and other receivables 31,414 (699) 30,715
Cash and cash equivalents 20,300 - 20,300
Trade and other payables {140,231) {1,4086) {141,637}
Bank loans (8,300) - (8,300}
Pravisions (251) - (251)
Lease liabilities (118,926) - (118,926)
Current tax liabilities (941) - (241)
Deferred tax liabilities (287) (14,571} {14,858)
Net assets acquired 27,831 25,938 53,769
Goodwill 36,169 (25,938) 10,231
Total cash consideration 64,000 - 64,000
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14. Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

a) Acquisitions — current period (continued)

The results of the Motorline group of companies have been consolidated into the Group's results from 14 October 2021.
For the peried from acquisition to 31 March 2022, the Motorline group of companies generated revenue of £425.580 000
and a loss before tax of £37,000.

Iif the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period In which the acquisition occurred (1 January
2021y, on a pro forma basis, the change in revenue and profit before tax of the combined Grougp for the 15 menths ended
31 March 2022 would have been an increase of £1,108,689,000 and £10,921 000 respectively.

Transaction ¢osts arising on acaquisitions in the penod totalled £3,476.000. These costs have been recognised in net
operating expenses in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and are part of operating cash
flows in the Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement.

b} Acquisitions — prior period

On 10 July 2020, the Group acquired the trade and assets of five Volkswagen dealership in Aylesbury. Acquisition of this
dealership brought to a successful conclusion the strategic acquisition of eight Volkswagen Group UK franchises
announced in December 2019, This acquisition is part of the Group’s stated strategy to grow with existing brand partners
in new geographic territories by adding further sites in excellent locations.

The fair values of the net assets at the date of acquisition are as set out below. The goodwill arising on acquisition is
attributed to the expected synergies and benefits associated with the increased brand representation which has resulted
in the Group becoming Volkswagen Group UK's largest partner by number of locations.

Fair value of net
assets acquired

£000
Intangible assets 350
Property, plant and equipment 569
Right-of-use assets 670
Inventories 1.333
Trade and other receivables 26
Cash and cash equivalents 1
Trade and other payables (9
Lease liabilities (670)
Deferred tax liabilities {49)
Net assets acquired 2,221
Goodwill 81
Total cash consideration 2,302

The compietion payment far the Aylesbury VW business included the consideration of £2,302,000 as set out above, and
a further payment cf £643,000 held back from the acguisitions completed in December 2019 as an incentive to the vendor
to complete the Aylesbury sale. Had the Aylesbury sale not been completed this further payment would not have been
due.

The results of the acquired dealership were consolidated into the Group's results from 10 July 2020. For the period from
acquisition to 31 December 2020, the revenues and the loss before tax generated by this dealership were immaterial in
the context of the Group’s revenues and profit before tax.

If the acquisition had taken effect at the beginning of the reporting period 1IN which the acquisition occurred (1 January
2020}, on a pro forma basis, the change in revenue and profit before tax of the combined Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 would have been immaterial in the context of the Group.

Transaction costs arising on acquisitions in 2020 totalled £13,000. These costs were recognised in net aperating expenses
in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and were part of operating cash flows in the Consolidated Cash

Flow Statement.
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14, Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

c¢) Impairment testing

For the purpose of impairment testing, geodwil and franchise agreements are allocated to a cash generating unit ("CGU"),
or to the smallest group of CGUs where it is not possible to apportion the goodwill or intangible assets at the individual
CGU level. Each CGU or group of CGUs to which the goadwill is allocated represents the jowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill 15 monitored for management purposes. Goodwill and intangible assets arising on business
combinations are allocated to CGUs by determining which CGU is expected te benefit from the synergies of the business
combination.

The Group's CGUs are groups of dealerships connected by manufacturer brand. The allocation of goodwill and indefinite
lived intangible assets to the CGU groups is as follows:

31 March 2022 31 December 2020

Franchise Franchise
. Goodwill Agreements Goodwill Agreements -

£'000 £000 £000 £'000
Volkswagen Group* 20 657 52,220 17,766 35597
BMW/MINI 1,461 8,345 1,461 8345
Jaguar/Land Rover 8,568 14 358 8,003 14,358
Mercedes-Benz/Smart 11,182 19,201 11.182 19,201
Lexus/Toyota 4,696 20,365 - -
Hyundai 1,589 7,219 - -
Other 4,397 1,530 2971 ) 22
Total 52,550 123,238 41,383 77,523

"Volkswagen Group includes the Volkswagen, Audi, SKODA and SEAT brands.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable and a potential impairment may be required. Impairment reviews have
been performed as at 31 March 2022; having been acquired only six manths before for the reporting date, the Motorline
group of companies acquired in the period were excluded from the scope of this review. Impairment reviews were
performed for all groups of CGUs as at 31 December 2020.

Valuation basis

The recoverable amount of the Group's CGUs is determined by reference to their value-in-use to perpetuity calculated
using a discounted cash flow approach, with a pre-tax discount rate applied to the projected, risk-adjusted pre-tax cash
flows and terminal value. Where higher, the fair value of groups of CGUs, less costs of disposal, is taken as the recoverable
amount.

Period of specific projected cash flows

The value-in-use of each CGU is calculated using cash flow projections for a five-year peried; from 1 April 2022 to 31
March 2027. These projections are developed from the Board approved budget for the year ending 31 March 2023. The
key assumptions in the forecasts on which the cash flow projections are based relate to expectations of sales volumes
and margins andl expectations around changes in the operating cost base. The assumptions made are based on the
Director’s current understanding of the current macro-economic context and outlook, past experience adjusted for
expected changes and external sources of information. The cash flows include cngoing capital expenditure required to
maintain the Group's dealership network but exclude any growth capital expenditure projects to which the Group was not
committed at the reporting date.

Discount rate
The cash flow projections have been discounted using a rate derived from the Group's pre-tax weighted average cost of
capital adjusted for industry and market risk. The discount rate used is 7.2% (2020 7.8%).

Terminal growth rate

The cash flows after the forecast period are extrapolated into the future aver the useful economic life of the group of CGUs
using a steady or declining growth rate that 1s consistent with that of the product and industry. Terminal growth rates are
based on the Director's estimate of future, long-term, average growth rates. These cash flows form the basis of what is
referred to as the terminal value.

The growth rate to perpetuity applied in the value-in-use calculations to arrive at a terminal value is 2% (202G 2%).
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c) Impairment testing (continued)

Conclusion
Under the base case, the Graup's CGUs all have significant headroom in respect of the carrying value of goodwill and
intangible assets.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions
Impairment testing Is dependent on estimates ana judgements, particularly as the conclusions relate to the forecasting of
future cash flows, the discount rates selected and expected long-term growth rates.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis on the impairment tests under the base case using four scenarios:
s discount rate changes by +/- 100 basis points, and
= terminal value growth rate changes by +/- 50 basis points.

None of these sensitivity cases would result in an impairment against any CGU.

In order to assess the possibility of future impairments, the Group has performed addttional scenarios analysis, using the
forecasts prepared to support the Directors’ consideration of the going concern basis of preparation. The scenario cases
are as follows:
e A down side case in which the overhead savings/cost mitigations anticipated from the Group's on-going
investment in systems and process, alongside other cost reduction measures, are not delivered to plan with a
PBT impact of £8.3 milllan and £12.1 million in the years ending 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 respectively.
e Adown side case in which a prolonged economic downturn results in a 10% reduction in revenue from Q3 of the
year ending 31 March 2023 for the remainder of the forecast period, triggering a PBT reduction of £17.7 million
and £15.4 million in the years ending 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 respectively.
+ Aworst case combining the impact of both of the above down side cases.

The downside cases do not assume any cost mitigation or cash conservation actions, for example restructuring
programmes or the deferral of capital expenditure, which could be enacted if the circumstances envisaged by these
scenarios were 10 occur.

None of these scenario cases would result in the recognition of an impairment against any CGU.
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15. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold Assets

land and Leasehold Plant and under

buildings improvements equipment construction Total

£'00¢ £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost
Balance at 31 December 2018 135 621 26,969 45167 .1,685 209,442
Opening balance disposal adjustment 946 568 2,962 - 4476
Balance at 1 January 2020 136,567 27 537 48,129 1,685 213918
Additions at cost 3,247 312 2,613 4,179 10,351
Additions o acyuisilivn - 439 130 - 569
Disposals - (1.771) (3,860) - (5,631)
Transfers to assets held for sale {1.325) - - - (1,325)
Transfers 25 2274 1,506 (3,805) -
At 31 December 2020 138,514 28,791 48,518 2,059 217,882
Additions at cost 23,688 534 6.065 8,246 38,533
Additions on acquisition 25,002 5,885 5516 - 36,603
Disposals (617) {309) (6,954) {687) {9,1867)
Transfers 4,953 397 1.415 {6,765) -
At 31 March 2022 191,540 34,798 54,560 2,853 283,751
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 31 December 2019 12, 443 8,621 29,085 - 50,149
Opening balance disposal adjustment 946 568 2,962 - 4,476
Balance at 1 January 2020 13,389 9,189 32,047 - 54,625
Charge for the year 2,002 2,488 6,229 - 10,719
Disposals - (1,617) (3,551) - (5.168)
Impairment - - 25 - 25
Transfers to assets held for sale (622) - - - (622)
At 31 December 2020 14,769 10,060 34,750 - £9,579
Charge for the penod 3,080 3774 8,544 - 15.408
Disposals (73) (449) (5.960) - {6,482)
At 31 March 2022 17,786 13,385 37,334 - 68,505
Net bock value
At 1 January 2020 123,178 18,348 16,082 1685 159,293
At 31 December 2020 123,745 18,731 13,768 2,059 158,303
At 31 March 2022 173,754 21,413 17,226 2,853 215,246

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capitai commitments totalling £3,321,000 (31 December 2020: £4,500,000) relating

to ongoing construction projects.

Prior period restatement

A prior period adjustment has been recognised in the table above to correct the treatment of certain asset disposals as
previcusly repcrted in prior years' consolidated financial statements. This error arose due to incorrect amounts being
disclosed as disposals within the cost and accumulated depreciation totals. The assets to which these disposal errors
related had been acquired through historic business combinations, the assets’ fair values at the date of acguisition were
correctly included within the cost of additions on acquisition. However, upon their eventual disposal, errors arose in the
consolidation journals required to present the disposals. As a result, both cost and accumulated depreciation are
understated. All assets had a £Nil carrying value at the date of disposal, as such there was no impact on the carrying

value of Property, Ptant and Equipment.
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156. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Prior period restatement (continued)

In order to correct the disclosures, cost of dispesals and depreciation an disposals have both been reduced by £5,800,000
in the year ended 31 December 2020. In order to reverse the impact of similar errors on disposals which occurred before
1 January 2020 a correcting journal 1o increase both cost and accumulated depreciation by £4,500.000 has also been
shown as an adjustment to the opening position as at 1 January 2020.

Transfers to assets held for sale

In Gctober 2020, the Group ceased commercial activities at two of its freehold properties. As the properties were no longer
being used for the commercial activity of the business and were actively being marketed for sale, the assets were
transferred to assets classified as held for sale (see Note 21 ‘Assets Classified as Held for Sale’).

16. Leases

a) Group as lessee

The Group has lease contracts for land and buildings and for vehicles. Leases of vehicles have an average term of three
years. Leases of land and buildings have an average term of between 20 and 25 years and can include extension,
termination and purchase options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis, therefore, contain a wide range of
gifferent terms and conditions.

In determining the lease term, consideration is made of all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension or purchase option, or to not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after
termination options) are only included in the lease term, therefore, balances recognised, if the lease is reasonably certain
o be extended (or not terminated). Specific consideration I1s given to: the existence of significant penaities to terminate {or
not extend), the residual value of any leasehold improvements, historical occupancy trends, the importance of the
underlying asset to the Group's operations and the costs and business disruption reguired to replace the leased premises.

The foliowing are amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

15 months Year ended

ended 31 31 December

March 2922 2020

£'000 £'000

Depreciation of nght-of-use assets ) 18,947 11,348
Profit on disposal and remeasurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (1,843) (318)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 698 527
Expenses relating to short-term leases 504 295
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets 906 744
Interest payable on lease liabilities 4177 3,103
Total amount recognised in Income Statement 23,389 15,699

The Group had total cash outflows in respect of leases in the period of £25,314 000 (year ended 31 December 2020:
£14,426.000). The Group also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of £134,225,000 (year
ended 31 December 2020: £3,627,000}.
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16. Leases (continued)

a) Group as lessee (continued)

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period:

Cost

At 1 January 2020
Additions

Additions on acquisition
Disposals
Remeasurement

At 31 December 2020
Additions

Additions on acquisition
Disposals
Remeasurement

At 31 March 2022

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020

Charge for the year

Disposals

Impairment

At 31 December 2020

Charge for the period

Disposals

Impairment

At 31 March 2022

Net hook value
At 31 December 2020
At 31 March 2022

Impairments

Land and Plant and

buildings  equipment Vehicles Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
158,846 - 744 159,580
2.662 - 295 2,957
670 - - 670
(6,655) - {367) (7,022)
{867) - - {867)
154,656 - 672 155,328
13,613 - 376 13,989
119613 590 122 120,325
(7.671) - (462) (8.133)
474 - {50) 424
280,685 590 658 281,933
51,091 - 532 51,623
11,059 - 289 11,348
(6,635 - (367) {7,002)
527 - - 527
56,042 - 454 56,496
18,567 81 319 18,947
(7,671) - (462) {8.133)
£ 6398 - - 698
67,636 61 311 68,007
98,614 - 219 98,833
213,049 529 347 213,926

Eight of the Group’s franchised dealerships were closed in December 2021, January 2022, February 2022 and March
2022 on integration of the Motorline group of companies. The premises out of which these dealerships operated became
vacant on the cessation of trade, however, certain fease commitments persist. Therefore, the right-of-use assets for these
leases have been fully impaired. This impairment loss of £688,000 {year ended 31 December 2020: £527 000) was
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in Net Operating Expenses.

Lease liability maturity analysis

The maturity analysis of the Graup’s lease liabilities 15 as follows:

Within 1 year

Between 1 and 5 years
After 5 years

Total lease liabilities

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £000
46,867 10,961
69,036 39,416
93,368 48,967
209,271 99,344
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16. Leases (continued)

a} Group as lessee (continued}

Analysis of lease payments ]
The percentages in the table below reflect the current praportions of lease payments that are either fixed or vanable.

Lease Fixed Variable

contracts payments payments

15 months ended 31 March 2022 number %o %
Property leases with payments linked te inflation 83 - 56%
Property leases with fixed payments 84 43% .
Vehicle leases 146 1% -
313 44% 56%

Lease Fixed Variable

contracts payments payments

Year ended 31 December 2020 number % %
Property leases with payments linked to inflation 9 - 13%
Property leases with fixed payments 112 85% -
Vehicle leases 81 2% -
202 87% 13%

b) Group as lessor — finance leases

The Group has non-cancellable leases as intermediate lessor of leases for properties. The terms of these leases vary.
The following are amounts recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £000
Income received from subleasing right-of-use assets (231) (185)
Finance income on net investment in leases (95) {83)
Total amount recognised (326) (268)

Future minimum lease payments receivable for property under non-cancellable finance leases are set cut pelow:

15 months Year ended

ended 31 31 December

March 2022 2020

£'000 £'000

Within 1 year 185 185
Between 1 and 2 years 185 185
Between 2 and 3 years 185 185
Between 3 and 4 years 185 185
Between 4 and 5 years 185 185
After 5 years 737 969
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 1,662 1,894
Unearned finance income (357) (452)
Net investment in the lease 1,305 1,442
Current (note 19) 115 108
Non-current 1,180 1,334
Total finance lease receivable 1,305 1,442
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16. Leases (continued)

c) Group as lessor — operating leases

The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases, as lessor on property included in investment property and

as an intermediate lessor on head leases of property assets. The terms of these leases vary. Future minimum lease
payments receivable for property under non-canceliable operating leases are as set out below.

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £°000
Within 1 year ' - 93
Between 1 and 2 years - 54
Between 2 and 3 years B )
Betweenr 3 and 4 years B )
Between 4 ang 5 years - B
After 5 years - -
- 147
17. Investment property

Freehold land Right-of-use
and buildings asset Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
Fair value at 1 January 2578 1,060 3,638
Disposals {2.140) - (2.140)
Fair value at 31 December 2020 438 1,060 1,498
Disposals (438) (1,080} (1.498)

Fair value at 31 March 2022 - - Z

Investment properties are stated at fair value; a formal valuation is required at least every three years by a Chartered
Surveyor on an open market value basis. The most recent full valuation of investment properties was carried out as at 31
December 2019 by BNP Paribas Real Estate. A revaluation surplus of £610,000 was taken to the Consaolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income in 2019.

The properties were rented out to third parties up until the point of their disposal in February 2021. Rental income of
£30,000 was recognised in the period (year ended 31 December 2020 £488,600). There were no restrictions on the
Group's ability to dispose of the investment properties or use any funds arising on disposat.

18. Inventaries
31 March 31 December

2022 2020

£'000 £'000

inventories held for resale 465219 374,347
Less. provisions (19.172) (11,468}
Inventories 446,047 362,879

inventories held for resale include new and used vehicles held for resale, vehicle parts and other inventory. As at 31 March
2022, £412973,000 (31 December 2020 £364,883.000) of finished goods were held under vehicle financing
arrangements (see Note 22 'Trade and Other Payables').

Inventory recognised in cost of sales during the period as an expense totalled £3,082 million (year ended 31 December
2020: £1,870 million).
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19, Trade and other receivables
31 March 31 December

2022 2020

£'000 £'000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 66,656 29,838
Gther receivables 41,308 28,537
Amounts due from related undertakings (note 31) 214 316
Prepayments 20,394 6.081
Finance lease receivable (note 16) 115 108
Trade and other receivables 128,688 65,780

Other receivables include accrued supplier income of £14,805,000 {31 December 2020: £11,687,000). More information
in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 26 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk Management’.

All financial assets included within trade and other receivables are held at amortised cost. The carrying amount of trade
and other receivables approximates fair value.

20. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 27 698 33,844

Cash and cash equivalents are held at amortised cost. Fair value approximates carrying value.

Cash at bank earns interest at fioating interest rates determined by reference to short-term benchmark rates.

21. Assets classified as held for sale

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £°000
Freehold land and buildings
At 1 January 703 797
Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 703
Disposals (703) {797)
At period end - 703

Following the closure of two of the Group’s dealerships in Octeber 2020, the decision was taken to sell the freehold
properties owned by the Group out of which these dealerships previously operated. As a result, the freehold properties
were reclassified as held for sale and transferred from property, plant and equipment intc current assets. On
reclassification, the freehold properties were measured at the lower of their existing carrying value and fair value less costs
to sell at the date of reclassification (fair value was determined by a deskiop valuation from Chartered Surveyors). No
impairments was required as fair value less costs to sell exceeded the assets’ carrying value.

These properties were suliseguently sold in February 2021. Profits on disposal of assets classified as held for sale are
included in Note 7 ‘Non-Underlying Items’.

Following the closure of ane of the Group's dealerships in October 2018, the decision was taken to sell the freehold

property owned by the Group out of which this dealership previously operated. This property was subsequently sold n
June 2020, Profits on disposal of assets classified as held for sale are included in Neote 7 '"Non-Underlying ltems'.
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22. Trade and other payables

31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£000 £'000
Current - trade and other payables '
Trade payables
- vehicle financing arrangements 412,973 364,883
- other trade payables 167,333 71,024
Contract liabilities 13,677 22,256
Amounts owed to related undertakings (note 31) 38 354
Other tax and social security payable 7576 4,91C
Other payahles 14,217 9.657
Accruals . 45,012 18,164
Total current trade and other payables 650,726 491,248

All financial liabilities included within current trade and other payables are held at amortised cost,
reasonable approximation of fair value.

carrying value is a

31 March 31 December

2022 2020

Non-current - other payables £'000 £'000
Contract liabilities 12,092 6,008
Total non-current other payables 12,092 6,008

Vehicle financing arrangements

The Group finances the purchases of new and used vehicle inventories using vehicle funding facilities provided by various
lenders including the captive finance companies associated with brand partners. These finance arrangements generally
have a maturity of 90 days or less and the Groug is normally required to repay amounts outstanding on the earlier of the

sale of the vehicles that have been funded under the facilities or the stated maturity date.

Amounts due to finance companies in respect of vehicle funding are included within trade payables and disclosed under
vehicle financing arrangements. Related cash flows are reporting within cash flows from operating activities within the

consolidated statement of cash flows.

Vehicle financing fadilities are subject to floating interest rates linked to the Bank of England Base Rate (or equivalent
finance house base rates). The interest incurred under these agreements is included within finance costs and classified

as stock holding interest.

Contract liabilities

31 March 31 December

2022 2020

E'000 £'000

OEM contributions 130 310
Commission income 13,731 22,068
Service packages 11,808 5,885
25,669 28,264

Contract liabilities include OEM contributions received in advance from manufacturers for which
principal. Movements on these balances during the period were as follows.

the Group acts as

31 March 31 December

2022 2020

£000 £000

At 1 January 310 949
Deferred during the period 16 45
Recognised as revenue during the period (196} (684}
At period end 130 310
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22, Trade and other payables (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

Contract liabilities include commission income received in advance from the various finance and insurance companies for
which the Group acts as agent. Movements on these balances during the pericd were as follows:

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
E'000 £'000
At 1 January 22,069 10.238
Deferred during the pericd 12,149 24179
Recognised as revenue during the penad (20,487) {12,348)
At period end 13,731 22,069

Contract liabilities include service packages received in advance from customers for which the Greup acts as principal.
Movements on these balances during the period were as follows:

31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £'000
At 1 January 5,885 5686
Deferred during the period 20,735 17,311
Recognised as revenue during the period (14,812) (17,1123
At period end 11,808 5,885
23. Loans and borrowings
31 March 31 December
2022 2020
Nominal and Nominal and
book value book value
£'000 £'000
Current loans and borrowings

Mortgages 1,428 641
1,428 641

Non-current loans and berrowings
Mortgages 10,683 4,383
10,683 4,383
Total loans and borrowings 12,111 5,024

Mortgages comprise amounts borrowed from commercial financial institutions and are secured by fixed charges over
specified property assets of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

More information In respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 26 ‘Financial Instruments — Risk
Management'.

Committed facilities

The Group has a revolving credit facility of £60.000.0G0 of which Enil was drawn at 31 March 2022 (31 December 2020
£nily. This facility includes access to an overdraft facility of £25.000,000. This faciity is available for general corporate
purposes including acquisitions or working capital requirements.

The facility is secured by cross guarantees granted by certain members of the Group. The current facility is available until
September 2024,
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23. Loans and borrowings (continued)
Fair values

The carrying amount of current loans and borrowings approximates fair value.

The carrying amounts and fair values of non-current loans and borrowings are as below. The fair values are based on
cash flows discounted using the prevailing rates.

31 March 2022 31 December 2020
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Mortgages 10,683 10,111 4,383 3,607

interest rate profile of borrowings

All loans and borrowings are subject to floating rates of interest that are determined by reference to official market rates.
The Group's various mortgages are subject to interest rates linked to Bank Base Rates, therefore, are not impacted by the
withdrawal of the LIBOR reference.

The revolving credit facility paid interest linked to GBP LIBOR. On withdrawal of the LIBOR reference, the facility
automatically defaulted to a synthetic GBP LIBOR reference during the transition period, with interest rates to ultimately
be determined by reference to SONIA. The Group expects the affected facility to transition to alternative interest rate
benchmarks by the end of 2022. Adjustments to the contractual cash flows resulting from these changes will be reflected
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. Therefore, the replacement of the loan's benchmark interest rate will not
result in an immediate gain or loss recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, which may have
been required if the practical expedient under the interest rate benchmark reform IFRS amendments had not been adopted.

Maturity profile of borrowings

The Group's borrowings have the following matunty praofile:
31 March 31 December

2022 2020
E'000 £'000
Within 1 year 1.384 641
Between T and 5 years 5,668 2,565
After 5 years 5.059 1.818
Total loans and borrowings 12,111 5,024

More information in respect of principal risk management is provided in Note 26 Financial Instruments — Risk
Management'.
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24, Provisions

Dilapidations Closed sites Tax Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 January 2021 994 225 - 1.511 2730
On acquisition - - 251 - 251
Amount provided in the period 2.692 602 - 380 3674
Amount released in the period . (459) (107 - (144) (710)
Amount utilised in the period (106} (477) (251) - (834)
As at 31 March 2022 3,121 243 - 1,747 5111

Pravisions have been allocated between current and non-current as follows:
31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £'000
Current 3,710 2,180
Non-current 1,401 . 240
Total provisions 5111 2,730

Dilapidations and closed sites
The Group manages its portfolic carefully and either closes or sells sites that no longer fit with the Group's strategy. When
sites are closed or sold, provisions are made for any residual costs or commitments.

The Group aperates from a number of leasehold premises under full repairing leases. The provision recognises that repairs
are required to put the buildings back into the state of repair required under the leases.

Tax

On acquisition of the Motorline group of companies in October 2021, the Group inherited an open matter regarding pre-
acquisition yse of company assets for non-business purposes by the former shareholders of the Motorline group. A
provision of £251,000 had already been recognised as an estimate of underpaid tax liabiliies requiring settlement on
conclusion of the matter. In November 2021 the matter was closed following payment of amounts due.

Other

Other provisions include a total amount of £1,167.000 (31 December 2020: £1,167.000) in respect of the Group's estimated
financial exposure under open insurance claims and for potential output VAT payable arising from uncertain VAT treatment
of specific vehicle purchases. Conclusion of these open positions is anticipated during the coming year.
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25. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as belaw.

Deferred tax labilites:

- Deferred tax liability to be recovered after mare than 12 months (note 25aj}
- Deferred tax assets to be offset against liabilities (note 25b)

Net deferred tax liabilities

The movement on deferred tax balances is as follows

At 1 January

Impact of change in accounting pelicy (note 3}
Deferred tax acquired

Intome statement charge (note 11}

At period end

a} Deferred tax liabilities

31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£000 £000

{98 934) {42 0586}
52,547 19,341
(46,387) (22,715)

31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £000

(22,715) (20,134)
- 203
(15,229) (49)
(8,443) (2,735)
(46,387) (22,715)

The movement in deferred tax liabiities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Fixed
assets Assets Intangible
Accelerated acquired on previously assets
tax a business Rollover qualifying Investment and Right -of-
depreciation combination relief for|IBAs  properties goodwill use asset Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000

As at 1 January 2020 777 5,285 1,254 171 108 14,000 17,632 39,227
Acguisitions - 49 - - - - 127 176
Charged/(credited) to the
income statement - current year (@4) / {203) {79) 27y (21) 270 (1,849) (2.053)
Charged 1o the income
statement - prior year 34 15 ) ) ) 32 i #
Impact of corporation tax rate
reduction reversal 95 623 148 20 13 1,651 2,075 4625
At 31 December 2020 862 5,769 1,323 164 - 15,953 17,985 42,056
Acquisitions 384 4483 - - - 11,150 29,934 45,951
Charged/(creditea) 1o the income
statemeni - current period (229) (374) - (53) - 248 (961) (1.369)
Charged/(credited) to the
income staterment - prior year 538 (23) - - - - 1 516
tmpact of corporation tax rate
increase 370 1,697 418 35 5,117 4143 11,780
At 31 March 2022 1,925 11,552 1,741 146 - 32,468 51,102 98,934
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25, Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)

b) Deferred tax assets

The movement in deferred tax assets duning the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within

the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows

Other

Capital Lease temporary
losses liabilities differences Total
. £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
As at 1 January 2020 410 18,205 681 19,296
Acquisitions - 127 - 127
Charged to the income statement - current year (228) (1.775) {306) {2.309)
{Charged)/credited to the income statement - prior year - (30) 12 (18)
Impact of corporation tax rate reduction reversal 48 2115 82 2,245
At 31 December 2020 230 18,642 469 19,341
Acquisitions - 29,730 1,020 30,750
{Charged)/credited to the income statement - current period 8 (1.196) (1,252) (2,440}
Credited to the income statement - prior year 12 17 352 381
Impact of corporation tax rate increase 79 4,341 95 4 515
At 31 March 2022 329 51,534 684 52,547

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is probable.

31 March 2022

Unrecognised
deferred tax

31 December 2020

Unrecognised
deferred tax

Tax losses asset Tax losses asset
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Trading losses
Available indefinitely 187 47 231 40
At period end 187 47 211 40

70



Marshall Motor Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. Financial instruments - risk management

a) Financial instruments by category

The Group's principal financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts and leans and
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to manage the Group's funding and liquidity requirements.
The Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The table below analyses financial instruments by assets type. All financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost in both
the current and prior periods.

31 March 31 December

2022 2020"
£'000 £'000
Assets as per the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Finance lease receivables 1,305 1,442
I;gsii:g}gsomg;ericgiivables excluding prepayments and finance lease 108,190 59.699
Cash and cash equivalents (note 20) 27,698 33,844
Total financial assets 137,193 94,985
Liabilities as per the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Loans and borrowings (note 23) 12111 5,024
Lease liabilities {note 16) 209.271 99,344
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilties (note 22) 629,559 464,082
Total financial liabilities 850,941 568,450

* In the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 trade and other payables {excluding non-financial
liahilities) incorrectly included contract liabilities. The comparative peried, as previously reported, has been restated to exclude all contract
liability balances of £28,284.000.

For all financial assets and liabilities, fair value equals carrying value except for long-term borrowings as disclaosed in Note
23.

b) Risk management
The Group's activities expose it to the following financial risks:

*  Market risk;
+ Credit risk; and
*  Lrguidity risk.

Each of these risks are managed in accordance with Board-approved policies. Risk management poiicies and systems
have been established and are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. These
palicies are set out below.

The Group's financial risk management processes seek to enable the early identificaticn, evaluation and effective
management of the significant risks facing the business.

The Group does not use financial derivatives and deoes not enter into trade financial instruments, including derivative
financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
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26. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)
b} Risk management (continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk of movements in the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument or forecast transaction
as unhderlying market prices change. The only market risk to which the Group is exposed is changes in interest rates. The
Group’s business activities expose it to neither commodity price risk nor foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk Is the risk that a change in interest rates adversely effects the Group's performance or ability to settle
financial obligations and comprises two elements.

Interest price risk
This risk results from financial instruments bearing fixed interest rates; changes in floating interest rates therefore affect
the fair value of these fixed rate financial instruments,

The Group has no debt subject to fixed interest rates; therefore, 1t 1s not expased to interest price risk.

Interest cash flow risk
This risk results from financial instruments bearing floating interest rates. Changes in floating interest rates affect cash
flows on interest receivable or payable.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its floating rate debt, namely all ioans and borrowings. The interest rate
expasure of the Group is managed within the constraints of the Group's business plan and the financial covenants under
its facilities. Due to the low value of the Group's leans and borrowings as at 31 March 2022, the Group does not have
significant sensitivities to the impact of future changes in interest rates on floating rate debt.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group.

The Group is exposed to credit risk on its financiaf assets, which consist of cash balances with banks and trade and other
receivables to the extent that settiement is cash-refated. The Group does not have a significant exposure to this type of
financial risk due to the nature of its customer base and the types of transaction that are undertaken.

The maximum exposure to credit risk on the Group's financial assets is represented by the assets’ carrying amount,

Finance lease receivables

The Group has one finance lease receivable, which is a sub-leased property. There have been no instances of rent default
by the lessee in the past, and no defaults are expected in the future, hence the credit risk is deemed to be low. No
impairment loss allowance has been recagnised in either the current ar the prior pericd,

Trade receivabies
The Group has a high volume of transactions spread across a large customer base, therefore, does not have a significant
exposure to the credit worthiness of any single counterparty.

The Group has an established credit policy applied by each business under which the credit status of each new customer
is reviewed (by reference to external credit evaluations, where possible) before credit is advanced. Credit limits are
established for all significant or high-risk customers, which represent the maximum amount permitted tc be outstanding
without requiring additional appraval from the appropriate level of management. These limits are based on external credit
reference agency ratings and the utlisation of approved credit limits is regularly monitored. Outstanding debts are
continually monitored by each business unit.

Trade receivables are considered to be past due once they have passed their contractual due date. At each reporting date,

the Group uses a pravision matrix to measure expected credit losses on trade receivables. When the debt is deemed
irrecoverable, the allowance account is written off against the underlying receivable.
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26. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)

b} Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (confinued)

Credit quality of trade receivables

The provisian for credit losses recognised against trade receivables i1s based on an expected credit loss model that
calculates the expected loss applicahle to the receivabie balance over its lifetime. Default rates are calculated considerng
histarical loss experience and are applied to trade receivables within a provision matrix. The matrix approach allows for
the apptication of different default rates to different greups of customers with similar characteristics. The characteristics
used to determine the groupings of receivables are the factors that have the greatest impact on the likelihood of default;
namely, number of days past due The rate of default increases once the balance is 80 days past due and subseguently
in 90-day increments. This matrix calculation approach is considered to be appropriate as the Group’s trade receivable
balance consists of a high volume of individually low value balances.

The most significant assumptions included within the expected credit lass provisioning model that gives rise to estimation
uncertainty, albeit immaterial, are that future default rates will be consistent with actual past performance and that there
will be no significant change in the payment profile or recovery rates. Historical default rates are calculated using a 'roll
rate' method based on the probability of a receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off.
Default rates are based on average actual credit loss experience over the previous two-year period. The Group reviews
and updates these default rates on a quarterly basis to ensure that the default rates used as the basis of the assumption
are calculated based on the most up-to-date data. Actual historical default rates are then adjusted for current, forward-
locking information; namely, regulatory changes and macroeconomic factors applicable to the Group's customer base that
may have an impact, now or in the future, on recoverability. While forward-looking information is usually considered to be
immaterial, exceptions to this could arise in the event of a forecast significant, one-off event.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and cther receivables during the period was as follows:

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 E'000
Balance at 1 January 671 460
Net remeasurement of loss allowances 861 211
1,532 671

Balance at period end

Cash and cash equivalents

Banking relationships are generally limited to those banks that are members of the core relationshig group. These banks
are selected for their credit status and their ability to meet the businesses’ day-to-day banking requirements. The credit
ratings of these institutions are monitored on a continuing basis.

The Group has not recorded impairments against cash or cash equivalents, nor have any recoverabllity issues been
identified with such balances. Such items are typically recoverable on demand or in line with normal banking arrangements.
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26. Financial instruments - risk management {continued)
b} Risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk
A summary of the Group's exposure to credit risk for trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents is as follows

31 March 2022 31 December 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Not credit- Credit- Neot credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
Counterparties without external credit rating:
Group 1 279 - 517 -
Group 2 67,810 - 29,992 -
Total gross carrying amount 68,189 - 30,509 -
Loss allowance (1,532) - (871) -
Net carrying amount of trade receivables 66,657 - 29,838 -
Gross carrying ameunt 1,305 - 1,334 -
Loss allowance - - - -
Finance lease receivable 1,305 - 1,334 -
Counterparties with external credit rating:
A\ A+ (stable)* 27,698 - 33,844 -
Loss allowance - - - -
Cash at bank 27,698 - 33,844 -

Group 1 — new customers/related parties (less than 6 manths}
Group 2 — existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) and no defaults in the past.

* Standard & Poor's rating {long term;)
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26. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)
b) Risk management {continued)
Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial hiabilities
as they fall due.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liguidity risk
management framework for the management of the Group's short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements.

Ligquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate levels of easily accessible cash reserves and committed banking
facilities. To assess the adequacy of resources, available headroom is continuously monitored through review of forecast
and actual cash flows and through matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group has access
to undrawn banking facilities in order to further reduce liquidity nsk. The Group does net anticipate any issues drawing on
the committed, undrawn banking facilities stould this be necessary. Full details of the Group's borrowing facilities are
given in Note 23 'Loans and Barrowings'.

The table below analyses the contractual undiscounted cash flows relating to the Group’s financial liabilities at the batance
sheet date. The cash fiows are grouped based on the remaining period ta the contractual maturity date. The Group holds
sufficient funds to meet these commitments as they fall due.

Due Due Due

between 6  between 1 between 2 Due

Due within months and 2 and § after 5
6 months and 1 year years years years Total
£7¢00 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Mortgages 715 715 1,428 4283 4,469 11,610
Lease liabilities 13,081 12,364 23231 62,401 170,244 281321

Trade and other payables
(excluding non-financiak liabilities (note 22)) 629 559 - - - - 629 559
At 31 March 2022 643,355 13,079 24,659 66,684 174,713 922,490
Due Due Due

between 6  betweent  between 2 Due

Due within months and 2 and 5 after 5
6 months and 1 year years years years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Mortgages 366 362 717 2,078 1.863 5,386
Lease liabilities 7,395 7,318 14,161 36,826 101,774 167,474

Trade and other payables

{excluding non-financial habilities (note 22)) 464,082 - - - - 464,082
At 31 December 2020 471,843 7,680 14,878 38,904 103,637 636,942

The above tabies do not include forecast data for liabilities which may be incurred in the future but which were not
contracted as at the balance sheet date.
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26. Financial instruments - risk management (continued)

c} Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, lcans and borrowings and shareholders’ equity.
The Consclidated Statement of Changes in Equity provides detalls on equity, Note 20 provides details of cash and cash
equivalents and Note 23 provides details of loans and barrowings.

The Group manages its capital structure with the following objectives:

» to safeguard the Group's abllity to continue as a going concern and maintain sufficient available resources as
protection for unforeseen events,

« o ensure that sufficient capital resources are available for working capital requirements and meeting principal and
interest payment obligations as they fall due;
to provide flexibility of resource for strategic growth and investment where opportunities arise; and
to provide reasonable returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders whilst maintaining a limitea level
of risk.

There were na changes to the Greup’s approach te capital management during the period.

By virtue of the Group's retail mediation activities, the Group is subject to the capital requirements imposed by the Financial
Conduct Authority on all non-investment insurance intermediaries. The Group's capital adequacy 1s monitored on a
quarterly basis and its capital resources have been consistently in excess of the requirements.

The Directors monitor the Group’s capitad structure and determine the level of dividends payable to shareholders at least
twice a year prior to the announcement of results, taking into account the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and the capital requirements of its strategic business plans. Consistent with others in the industry, the Directors monitor
levels of leverage by reference to the ratio of net debt to total shareholders’ equity.

Net debt is calculated as total borrowings {including beth current and non-current berrowings) less cash and cash
equivalents. As disctosed in the Net Debt Reconciliation on page 31, the Group had net debt of £193,684,000 as at 31
March 2022 (31 December 2020: £70,524,000).

27. Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial assets and financial igbilities are as below. The Group
considers that the carrying amount of the following financial assets and financial liabilities are a reasonable approximation
of their fair value: trade receivables, trade payables, bank loans and cash and cash equivalents. Therefore. these assets
are not disclosed below.

All fair values shown in the table below are measured using observable inputs {Level 2). The fair value of non-current
morigages are determined by reference to future contractual cash flows discounted using the prevailing market interest
rates for facilities with similar characteristics.

31 March 2022 31 December 2020
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
£'900 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial liabilities
Maortgages 10,683 10111 4,383 3.607

There have been no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy during either the current or prior periods.
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28. Share capital and reserves

Share capital and share premium

Number Crdinary Share
of shares shares premium Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2020 78,232,237 50,068 18672 €9,740
At 31 December 2020 78,232,237 50,068 19,672 69,740
At 31 March 2022 78,232,237 50,068 19,672 69,740

Ali shares issued are fully paid

Share repurchases

in May 2021, the Marshall Moter Holdings Employee Benefit Trust (controlled by the Company) subscribed to 302,49%
ordinary shares of the Company as part of the exercise of the 2017 and 2018 Performance share option awards. All these
ordinary shares were acquired from the market at market value.

Shares held by subsidiaries
No shares in the Company were held by subsidiaries in the period (year ended 31 December 2020: nil}.

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payments granted to
employees, including key management personnel, and Directors of the Group as part of their remuneration. Refer to Note
29 ‘Share-Based Payments' for further detalls of these plans.

Own shares reserve
Represents shares in the Company held by the Marshall Motor Holdings Employee Benefit Trust. These shares are held
in order to satisfy options exercised under the Group's Performance Share Plan. Further details of which are set out in
Note 22 ‘Share-Based Payments'.

®
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29. Share-based payments

The Group cperates an equity-settied share option scheme for certain senior managers and executive directors of the
Group ("the Performance Share Plan”). As at 31 March 2022, seven share grants have been awarded under the scheme
being (a) IFO Performance Awards (vesting in two tranches), (b) 2016 Performance Awards, (c) 2017 Performance
Awards, {d) 2018 Performance Awards, (e) 2019 Awards, (f} 2020 Awards and {g) 2021 Performance Awards. Awards are
made annually to eligible employees at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee; employees receive shares at the
end of the performance period, subject to the achievement of the specified underlying hasic earnings per share ('EPS")
performance conditions. Performance conditions are designed to incentivise senior managers and executive directors to
maximise long-term shareholder returns. Each option grant under the scheme is disclosed separately below.

The total share-based payment charge recognised during the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 was £6,700,000 (31
December 2020 £668,000). This is split as £1,709,000 in accruals {year ended 31 December 2020: £107,000) and
£4,991 000 (year ended 31 December 2620 £561,000) in the share-based payments reserve.

It an optiorn remains unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the option expires. The weighted
average remaining contractual life of options outstanding as at 31 March 2022 is 7.9 years (31 December 2020 8.2 years).

The fair value of share options is determined by reference to the market value of the Group's shares at the date of grant.
No valuation model is required to calculate the fair value of awards on the basis that the employees receiving the awards
are entitled to receive the full value of the shares and there are no market-based performance conditions attached to the
awards. The weighted average fair value of options outstanding as at 31 March 2022 is £1.85 (31 December 2020: £1.45).
The fair value of options granted during the period was £2.57 (year ended 31 December 2020: £1.25). The fair value of
equity settled share options granted was based on market value on 8 September 2021 when the share options were
granted.

Options are ordinarily forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest. All options issued are nil cost
options and all awards have an exercise price of £nil.

The share option scheme is in place to encourage option holders to take appropriate and timely action to maximise the
lang-term financial performance and success of the Group. As a result, in accordance with the discretion afforded to them
under the Group’s remuneration policy, the Remuneration Committee regularly reviews any impact of Group restructurings
and reorganisations on incentive outcomes to ensure that performance conditions are not distorted by action taken to
optimise business performance fer the long-term benefit of the Group. The Remuneration Committee exercised this
discretion during both the current and prior periods.

In April 2021, the 2018 Performance Awards became exercisable. On 27 May 2021, all option holders exercised these
options. As such, 156,114 existing ordinary shares were acguired from the market to satisfy the exercise of these options.
On exercise, the Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion to settle a praportion of the share options equal to the
option holders’ tax liability arising on exercise in cash rather than being cash settled The total value of cash-settled
transactions was £365,000.

In September 2020, the 2017 Performance Awards became exercisable. On 27 May 2021, all option holders exercised
these options. As such, 146,385 existing ordinary shares were acquired from the market to satisfy the exercise of these
options. On exercise. the Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion te settle a proportion of the share options equal
to the option holders’ tax liability arising on exercise in cash rather than being cash setfied. The total value of cash-settled
transactions was £273,000.

No options were exercised during the year ended 31 December 2020.

As at 31 March 2022 outstanding share options were as follows:

No of shares

over which Date

N options are Exercise from which
Award Grant date outstanding price exercisable Expiry date
2019 Awards 28 Novemnber 2019 661,560 Nl 11 May 2022 28 November 2029
2020 Awards 20 August 2020 1,067.632 Nil 1 May 2022 11 March 2030
2021 Performance Awards 08 September 2021 1,299,616 Nil 11 May 2022 10 March 2031
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29. Share-based payments (continucd)

a) 2017 Performance Awards

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to non-market performance conditions as detailed below as well as the service
condition of continuous employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in underlying, basic EPS from 2018 to 2019, 25% vest for achieving growth of CPI
plus 1% per annum and the percentage of options which vests increases on a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for
achieving growth of CPI plus 5% per annum. These performance criteria were nct met due to unprecedented adverse
market conditions. The Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion in light of the circumstances; therefore, 50% of
these options become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date. The options were exercised on 27 May 2021.

The 2017 Performance Awards are subject to a helding period that starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth
anniversary of the grant date.

31 March 2022 31 December 2020

No. WAEP No. WAEP
QOutstanding as at 1 January 577,690 - 611,373 -
Granted during the perod - - - -
Forfeited during the period - - (33.683) -
Exercised during the period (293,044) - - -
Expired during the period {(284,646) - - -
Outstanding as at period end - - 577,690 -
Exercisable as at period end - - 577,690 -

b) 2018 Performance Awards

The 2018 Performance Awards are subject to non-market performance conditions as detailed below as well as the service
condition of continugus employment.

The options vest for achieving growth in underlying, basic EPS from 2017 to 202G; 25% vest for achieving growth of 1.3%
per annum and the percentage of options which vests increases on a straight line basis up to 100% vesting for achieving
growth of 6% or more per annum. These performance criteria were not met due to unprecedented adverse market
conditions. The Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion in light of the circumstances; therefore, 50% of these
options become exercisable on the third anniversary of the grant date. The options were exercised on 27 May 2021.

The 2018 Performance Awards are subject to a holding pericd that starts on the grant date and ends on the fourth
anniversary of the grant date.

31 March 2022 31 Pecember 2020

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding as at 1 January 644,760 - 680,249 -
Granted during the period - - - B
Farfeited during the period - - (35.489) -
Exercised during the period (304,840 - - -
Expired during the period {340,120 - - -
Outstanding as at period end - - 644,760 -

Exercisable as at period end - - - -
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29. Share-based payments (continued)
c) 2019 Awards

The 2019 Awards are subject to the service condition of continuous employment. These options vest and become
exercisable on change of control and ownership of the Group.

31 March 2022 31 December 2020

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding as at 1 January 668,577 - 710,682 -
Granted during the period 17.544 - - -
Farfeited during the period (24,581) - (42,105} -
Exercised during the period - - - -
Expired during the pericd - - - -
Outstanding as at period end 661,560 - 668,577 -

Exercisable as at period end

d) 2020 Awards

The 2020 Awards are subject to the service condition of continuous employment. These options vest and become

exercisable an change of control and ownrership of the Group.

31 March 2022

31 December 2020

No. WAEP No. WAEP
QOutstanding as at 1 January 1,035,632 - - -
Granted during the period 32,600 - 1,107,632 -
Farfeited during the period - - {72,000) -
Exercised during the period - - - "
Expired during the period - - - -
Outstanding as at period end 1,067,632 - 1,035,632 -

Exercisable as at period end - - - -

e} 2021 Awards

The 2021 Awards are subject to the service condition of continuous employment. These options vest and become
exercisable on change of control and ownership of the Group.

31 March 2022 31 December 2020
No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding as at 1 January - - - -
Granted during the pericd 1,315,180 - - -

Forfeited during the period (15,564} - - -
Exercised during the period - - - -
Expired during the period - - - -
Cutstanding as at period end 1,299,616 - - -

Exercisable as at period end - - - .
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30. Analysis of net debt

Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities arising from financing activities

Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

Net debt

Lease liabllities

Adjusted net cash at period end
(non GAAP measure)

At 1 At 31
January Non-cash March
2021 Cash flows Acquisitions™* items™ 2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
33,844 {26,446) 20,300 - 27,698
(5,024) 1,213 (8,300) - (12,111}
(99,344) 21,133 (115,296) (11.765) {209.271)
(104,368} 22,346 (127,596) (11,765) (221,382)
(70,524) (4,100) (107,296} (11,765) (193,685)
99 344 (21.133) 119,296 11,765 209,271
28,820 (25,234) 12,000 - 15,586

*Non-cash ilems include new lease contracts (£14,114,000), disposals (£2,870.000), remeasurements to existing lease labilities
{£139.000) as well as the unwinding of the discount on lease liabilities {(£661,000).

** The increase in lease liability commitments on acquisitions arises predominantly from the portfolio of property leases entered inte on
acquisition of the Motarline group of companies. For full details of lease liabilities arising on each acquisition in the period see Note 14(a}
‘Goodwill and other intangible assets: acquisitions — current period'.

Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities arising from financing activities
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

-

-

Net debt

Lease liabilities
Adjusted net debt at year end
(non GAAP measure)

At At 31
1 January Non-cash December
2020 Cash flows New leases items™ 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
110 33,734 - - 33,844
(30,665) 25,641 - - (5,024}
(108,085) 11,323 (a.627) , 1,045 (99,344)
(138,750} 36,964 (3,627) 1,045 (104,368)
(138,640} 70,698 (3,627) 1,045 (70,524)
108,085 (11,323) 3,627 {1,045y 99344
{30,555) 59,375 - - 28,820

*Non-cash items include remeasurements to existing lease liabilities as well as the unwinding of the discount on lease

liabilities.
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31, Related party transactions

Key management compensation is given in Note 9 'Employees and Directors’,

During the current and prior periods the Directors were members of an employee car ownership scheme under which the
following transactions were entered into — this scheme was wound down during the current period. The Directors
purchased three cars during the 15 monrths ended 31 March 2022 (year ended 31 December 2020:18) for an aggregate
price of £281,000 (year ended 31 December 2020: £1,385,000) and sold back five cars (year ended 31 December 2020°19)
at @ combined price of £464,000 (year ended 31 December 202G: £1,773,000). The Directors did not make any material
profits on these transactions.

All companies within the group headed by Marshall of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited, other than those which are
subsidiaries of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited. are related parties for which the disclosure exemption does nat apply.

Period-end
15 months ended 31 March 2022 Sales Purchases balance
£'000 £'000 £'000
Ultimate parent undertaking
Marshall of Cambridge {(Holdings) Limited 45 (28) -
Other group entifies
Marshail of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 13 253 75
Marshall Thermo King Limited 294 - 9
Marshall Fleet Solutions Limited - 1 -
Marshall Group Praperties Limited 3 816 -
Marshall Land Systems Limited 2 - -
357 1,042 84
Year ended 31 December 2020 Sales Purchases Year-end balance
£'000 £'000 £'000
Ultimate parent undertaking
Marshalt of Cambridge (Holdings) Limited 50 - 10
Cther group entities
Marshall of Cambridge Aerospace Limited 4 77 {28}
Marshall Group Properties Limited « - 924 (323)
Marshall Land Systems Limited 808 - 806
Other related parties
RPJ Consulting Services Limited* - 10 (3)
862 1,021 462

“The Group purchased administrative support services from RPJ Consulting Services Limited, a company whase sole direclor was also
Marshall Motor Holdings Limited's former Non-Executive Chairman.

Outstanding balances with group entities are unsecured, interest free and are expected to be settled in cash.

Durihg the 15 months ended 31 March 2022, the Group made no provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by
related parties (year ended 31 December 2020. £nil).
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32. Pensions

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution pension schemes, contrnbutions paid are calculated by reference
to a percentage of each employee's salary. All defined contribution schemes into which the Graup makes contributions
are managed by third party providers. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the
specified contributions. The total charge for contributions during the 15 months endea 31 March 2022 was £4,392,000
(year ended 31 December 2020: £2 993,000).

The total unpaid pension contributions outstanding at the period end were £426,000 (31 December 2020 £539,000).

33. Ultimate parent company

On 11 May 2022 Marshall Motor Holdings Limited was acquired by a new ntermediate parent company, CAG Vega 2
Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales. The ultimate contralling party became TDR Capital LLP, a Limited
Liability Partnership incorporated in England and Wales. Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited is the largest
undertaking that consalidates these financial statements.

The financial statements of these companies can be obtained from The Registrar of Companies at Companies House,
Crown Way, Cardiff CF14 3UZ.

34. Events after the reporting period

Vesting and exercise of share option awards

In May 2022, the 2019 Awards, 2020 Awards and 2021 Performance Awards vested and were exercised, Similarly to
previous years in order to cover income tax and national insurance contributions. the decisicn was taken for a portion of
the share options being exercised to be settled in cash rather than being equiy-settied. The total value of cash-settled
transactions was £5,975,000. In order to satisfy the equity-settled options, as well as all associated dividend equivalents,
the Company issued 3,095,896 ordinary shares at par value of 64 pence each.

Change of control and delisting

On 29 Nevember 2021 the Board of Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited announced the terms of a cash offer
pursuant to which its wholly-owned subsidiary CAG Vega 2 Limited would acquire the entire issued, and to be issued,
share capital of the Company, subject to the requisite requlatory approvals being obtained. Marshall of Cambridge
(Holdings) Limited provided an irrevocable undertaking to accept the offer in respect of its entire shareholding in the
ordinary share capital of the Company, representing approximately 84.4% of the issued crdinary share capital of the
Company. Following the granting of the requisite regulatory approvals on 11 May 2022, the change of control tock effect.

Subsequent to CAG Vega 2 Limited acquiring the Group, on 15 June 2022 the admission to trading of the shares of the
Company on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange was cancelled. Consequently, the
Company was re-registered as a private limited company.

Dividend

An interim dividend in respect of the year ending 31 March 2023 totalling £20,000,000 and representing a payment of
24.59p per ordinary share in issue at that time was paid in September 2022,
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Balance Sheet
At 31 March 2022

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets
Debtars
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital

Share premium

Share-based payments reserve
Own shares reserve

Profit and loss account
Shareholders’ funds

31 March 31 December

2022 2020

Note £'000 £000
6 219,840 154,689
7 618 5,442
42 961 -

43,579 5,442

9 (174,434) (51,830)
(130,855) (46 388)

89,085 108,301

10 50,068 50,0868
19,672 19.672

11 5617 1,586
11 - (12}
13,728 36,987

89,085 108,301

The total comprehensive loss of the Company for the 16 months ended 31 March 2022 was £16,168,000 (year ended 31

December 2020: £5,064,000).

The Company financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 27

September 2022,

R.J. Blumberger
Director
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the 15 months ended 31 March 2022

At 1 January 2020

Loss for the financial ycar

Total comprehensive loss for the
year

Share-based payments charge

At 31 December 2020

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive loss for the
period

Equity dividends paid

Acquisition of own shares

Exercise of share options
Share-based payments charge

At 31 March 2022

Note

11

12
10
10
11

Share- Profit
Called- based Own and
up share Share payments shares loss
capital premium reserve reserve  account Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
50,068 19,672 1,025 {12} 42,051 112,804
- - - - {5,084) (5,064}
- - - - (5,064} {5,064)
- - 560 - - 560
50,068 19,672 1,585 (12} 36,987 108,300
- - - - (16,188)  (16,168)
- - - - (16,168} (16,168}
- - - - {6,931) (6,931)
- - - {538) - (535)
- - (959) 547 (160) (572)
- - 4,991 - - 4,991
50,068 19,672 5,617 - 13,728 89,085
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1. Statement of compliance

Marshall Motor Holdings Limited (the Company) is incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The Company 1s a
private limited company, limited by shares. The Campany is registered in England under the Companies Act 2008
(registration number 02051461) with the address of the registered office being; Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CBS
8RY, United Kingdom.

The parent company financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, the Financial Repering
Standard applicable in the Unrted Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared 1n Sterling which 1s both the functional and presentational currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except where otherwise indicated. The financial
information has been prepared on the going concern and historicat cost basis.

The Company is part of the consolidated financial statements of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited.

Reporting period

On 11 May 2022 all of the issued share capital of the Company was acquired by CAG Vega 2 Limited. In anticipation of this
change of ownership, to align the reporting period with that of acquirer, all entities in the Group changed the end of the
reparting period from 31 December to 31 March. Amounts presented for the 2022 reporting period are for a 156 month period.
Comparative figures are for a 12 month period. Consequently, comparative amounts reported in the Consolidated Statement
of Gomprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consclidated Statement of Cash Flows and
related notes are not entirely comparable.

Exemptions adopted
The following disclosure exemptions have been adopted as permitted by FRS 102
Presentation of a cash-flow statement and related notes
- Financial instrument-related disclosures
- Key management personnel compensation disclosures
Share-based payments disclosures

Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
As permitted under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected to present neither a Company Income
Statement nor a Company Statement of Comprehensive Income.

3. Accounting policies

Except where disclosed otherwise in this note, the accounting policies adapted in the preparation of the Company financial
statements are consistent with those applied when preparing the Company financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less any impairment. Imparrments are recognised directly through the
Income Statement.

Taxation

Current taxation
Current tax is recognised for the amcunt of income tax payable in respect of the taxable prafit for the current or past reporting
periods using the tax rates and taws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences which are differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income that arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from
those in which they are recognised in the financial statements. There are the following exceptions.

Where, in a business combinaticn, there are differences between amounts that can be deducted for tax for assets (other
than goodwill) and liabilities cempared with the amounts that are recognised in the financial statements for those assets and
habilities, a deferred tax liability or asset is recognised. The amount attributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the
deferred tax recognised.
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3. Accounting policies (continued)}
Taxation (continued)

Deferred taxation (continued)

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recogrised only to the extent that it is considered probable that they
will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. Deferred tax is measured on
an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, based
on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

With the exception of changes arising on the initial recognition of a business combination, the taxation charge or credit is
presented either in the income statement or the statement of ather comprehensive incocme depending on the transaction
that resulted in the taxation charge or credit.

Deferred tax liabilities are presented within provisions for liabilities and deferred tax assets within debtors. Deferred tax

assets and deferred tax habilities are offset only if.

- the company has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets agalnst current tax ifabilities, and

- the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to iIncome taxes levied by the same taxation autnority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Financial instruments

The Company has non-derivative financial instruments comprising trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.

The Company has ne financial instruments measured at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and in hand.

Short-term debtors and creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and which are receivable or payable within one year are recorded at
transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the Income Statement.

interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at tne present value of cash payable to the bank (including
interest). After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. less
impairment. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the Income Statement.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans through which the Company allows
employees to receive shares in the Company.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value {(calculated excluding the effect of service and non-market
based performance vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The share-based payment charge to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of share options granted and is recognised as an employee expense within underlying earnings,
with a carresponding increase in equity.

The share-based payment charge is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting pericd (being the period over which
all vesting conditions are to be satisfied). An award subject to graded vesting s accounted for as though it were muttiple,
separate awards, the number of awards being determined in direct correlation to the number of instalments in which the
options vest.

The share-based payment charge is based on the Company's estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest.
At each balance sheet date, the Company revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on
the non-market performance vesting conditions and service conditions. The Company's remuneration policy gives the
Remuneration Committee discretion to revise performance cenditions to adjust for the impact of group restructurings and
recrganisations on incentive cutcomes. The impact of any revisions to original vesting estimates or performance conditions
is recognised in the Income Statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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3. Accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Social security contributions payable in connection with share options granted are considered to be an integral part of the
grant and are, therefore, treated as cash-settled transactions. Cash-settled share-based payments transactions are
measured at fair value at the settlement date. with changes in fair value recognised directly in equity in retained earnings.

When options are exercised, the Company 1ssues new shares. These shares are gifted to the Employee Benefit Trust by
the Company at nominal value. The cost of these shares is recognised as a reduction to equity in the own shares reserve.
When the options are exercised and the shares transferred to the employees, the cost on the own shares reserve is
transferred ta equity.

When options 1ssued by the Employee Benefit Trust are exercised the own shares reserve is reduced and a gamn or loss is
recognised in the reserves based on proceeds less weighted-average cost of shares initially purchased now exercised.

Where shares options are forfeited, effective from the date of the forfeiture, any share-based payment charge previously
recognised in both the current and prior periods in relation to these options is reversed though the Income Statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cost of awards granted to employees of the Company's subsidiaries is recognised as an addition to the cost of its
investment in the employing subsidiary, with a corresponding increase in the Share-Based Payments Reserve in the
Statement of Changes Iin Equity.

Employee benefit trust

_ The Marshall Motor Holdings Employee Benefit Trust {(the Trust) was established in the context of the share-based
compensation pltans operated by the Group. The Trust is registered in Jersey and was formed on 30 June 2015.

The Trust is treated as an extension of the Company (the sponsoring entity of the employee share option plans); therefare,
the assets and liabilities of the Trust are included in the Company Balance Sheet. The Company Balance Sheet includes all
shares in the Company held by the Trust. These shares are disclosed in the Own Shares Reserve as a deduction from
equity.

Pensions

The Company participates in a defined contribution scheme for its employees. Contributions are charged to the Income
Statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

Dividend distribution

Final dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Dividend income
Income is recognised when the Company's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when shareholders

approve the dividend. All of the Company’s income is generated in the UK.

4. Auditor’'s remuneration

The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services was £5,000 (year ended 31 December 2020: £3,000).
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5. Employees and directors

Employee costs for the Company during the period were:

15 months Year ended
ended 31 31 December
March 2022 2020
£'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 3,187 1,431
Saocial security costs 6665 338
Cther pension costs 136 81
Share based payments 3,215 315
7,214 2,165

The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was
15 months Year ended
ended 31 31 December
March 2022 2020
No. No.
Management 3 3

Details of Directors’ remuneration are included in Note 9 'Employees and Directors’ to the consaolidated financial statements.

6. Investments in subsidiaries

31 March 31 December

2022 2020

£'000 £'000
At 1 January 154,689 156,622
Additions 65,579 -
Share-based payment awards to employees of subsidiaries 2,587 374
Impairment {2,915} _{2,307)
At 31 March 2022 219,940 154,689

Additions
On 14 October 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Motorline Holdings Limited for cash
consideration of £64.600,000.

For further details of the subsidiaries acquired, see Note 14{a} ‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets' in the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment

Impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable and a potential impairment may be required. Impairment reviews have been
performed for all investments in subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and 31 December 2020. Impairment charges are recorded
within administrative expenses in the Income Statement.

The Company recognised impairment charges during the pericd totalling £2,915.000 in relation to two of the investments in
subsidiaries. Both impairments arose due to the closure of certain franchises operated by those subsidiary undertakings.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company recorded impairment charges totalling £2,307,000 in relation to
two of the investments in subsidiaries. One impairment resulted gue to the cessation of the trade of Marshall of Stevenage
Limited during the year following the closure of the franchise dealership cperated by this subsidiary. The other impairment
arose due to a deterioration in assumpticns around future profitability and growth rates within the business activities of the
subsidiary entity in which the investment is held.
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6. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidiaries
The Company owns directly or indirectly the whole of the issued and fully paid ordinary share capital of the following
subsidiary undertakings. All subsidiaries are incorporated in England and Wales.

The registered office for all subsidiary companies listed below is Airport House, The Airport, Cambridge, CB5S 8RY, United
Kingdom. All subsidiaries listed below are included within the consoclidated financial statements on pages 27 to 83.

Name of Undertaking
Marshall Motor Group Limited”
Marshall of Cambridge (Garage Properties) Limited” *{reg no. 02051459)

Principal activity at period end
Franchised motor dealership
Property investment and development

Tim Brinton Cars Limiled® “(reg no. 31041301)

Marshall of Ipswich Limited” (reg no. 04447340)
Marshall of Peterborough Limited” *{reg no. 04861074)
S.G. Smith Holdings Limited”

5.G. Smith Automative Limited *(reg no. 00622112)
5.G. Smith (Motors) Limited

5.G. Smith (Motors) Beckenham Limited *(reg no. 00648395)
S.G. Smith (Motors) Forest Hill Limited *(reg no. 00581713}
S.G. Smith (Motors) Crown Point Limited *{reg no. 00581711}
S.G. Smith (Motors) Sydenham Limited

S.G. Smith (Motors) Croydon Limrted

S.G. Smith Trade Parts Limited *(reg no. 01794317)
Prep-Point Limited *(reg no. 00660067)

Marshall of Stevenage Limited” *(reg no. 06450140)
Marshall Commercial Vehicles Limited

Marshall North West Limited" *(reg no. 00322817)
Marshall of Scunthorpe Limited® *(reg no. G1174004)
Siiver Street Autornotive Limited” *(reg no. 00716748)
Exeter Trade Parts Specialists LLP “(reg no. OC329331)
Audi South West Limited

Hanjo Russell Limited

CMG 2007 Limited”

Astle Limited *(reg no. 01114983}

Crystal Motor Group Limited *(reg no. 04813767)
Ridgeway Garages (Newbury) Limited”

Pentagon Limited *{reg na. 01862751)

Pentagon South West Limited

Ridgeway TPS Limited *(reg no. 06112651)

Ridgeway Bavarian Limited *{reg no. 07930214)

Wood in Hampshire Limited

Wood of Salisbury Limited

Matorline Holdings Limiteg”

Motorline Limited

Motorline (Broad Qak) Limited

Motorline (Canterbury) Limited

Motorline (Kent) Limited

Matorline TPS Limited *(reqg na. 10474229)

Driveline Limited

Dealcairn Limited *(reg no. 04073914)

Metorline (UK) LLP

» Direct subsidiary of Marshall Motor Holdings Limited.

Property holding

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Holding company

Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Dormant

Motor parts sales

Maintenance and repair of motor vehicles

Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Mgtor parts sales

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motar dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Motor parts sales
Franchised motor dealership
Dormant

Dormant

Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Franchised motor dealership
Motor parts sales
Franchised motor dealership
Praperty holding

Dormant

* Subsidiaries for which exemptian from audit by virtue of 547%A of the Companies Act 2006 has been taken for the 15 month period ended

31 March 2022.
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7. Debtors
31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £'000
Trade debtors - 2
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - 4,356
Gther debtors 19 24
VAT 36 24
Corporation tax - 281
Prepayments 512 754
Deferred tax asset (notc 8) 51 1
' 618 5,442

During the 15 months ended 31 March 2022, the Group made no provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed to
related parties (year ended 31 December 2020: £nil).

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, bear no interest and have na fixed repayment date.

8. Deferred tax assets
The analysis and movements in deferred tax assets during the period were as follows:

Temporary

differences

£'000

At 1 January 2020 7
Charged to the Income Statement (6)
At 31 December 2020 1
Charged to the Income Statement - current period (6)
Credited 10 the Income Statement - prior year 56
At 31 March 2022 51

The balance of the deferred tax asset consists of the tax effect of timing differences in respect of.

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £'000
Shaort-term timing differences 51 1

The Directors believe that all dividends paid by the Company’s subsidiaries will meet the exemption conditions set out in tax
legislation and are, therefore, non-taxable income.
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9. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

31 March 31 December

2022 2020

£'000 £'000

Bank loans - -
Bank overdraft - 5,033
Trade creditors 958 703
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 169,424 45,022
Corparation tax 1,310 -
Other taxes and social security 779 71
Other creditors 9 30
Accruals and deferred income 1,954 971
174,434 51,830

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, bear no interest and have no fixed repayment date.

Details of ioans and borrowings can be found in Note 23 'Loans and Borrowings' of the consolidated financial statements,

10. Share capital and reserves

31 March 31 December

2022 2020
£'000 £000
Ordinary shares
78,232,237 (2020: 78,232,237) ordinary shares of 64p each 50,068 50,068

All shares issued are fully paid.

Details of the Company's share capital and the nature of the reserves are included in Note 28 *Share Capital and Reserves’
in the consolidated financial statements.

11. Share-based payments

The Company operates a share-based payment scheme; having adopted the disclosure exemptions permitted by FRS 102,
full details of the scheme are included in Note 29 *Share-Based Payments’ in the consclidated financial statements and are
not duplicated here.

The share-based payment expense recognised by the Company is calculated by reference to the number of options awarded
o the employees of the Company.

12. Dividends

15 months Year ended
ended 31 December
31 March 2022 2020
£'000 £000

Paid during the period
Interim dividend for year ended 31 December 2020 - -
Final dividend for year ended 31 December 2020 - -
Interim dividend for 15 months ended 31 March 2022 6,931 -
6,931 -

An interim dividend in respect of the 15 months ended 31 March 2022 of £6,931.000 representing a payment of 8.86p per
ordinary share in 1ssue at that time was paid in September 2021. Following the Company’s change in status from a pubhc
listed company to a private limited company, a final dividend in respect of the 15 month period ended 31 March 2022 is nat
proposed. In light of the circumstances resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, neither an interim nor a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 was paid.
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13. Pensions

As described in Note 3 'Accounting Policies’, the Company participates in a pension scheme for the benefits of its employees
which is a defined contribution scheme. The scheme is funded by the payment of contributions to a trustee administered
fund which is kept independently from the assets of the participating employers.

The total pension cost for the 15 month period was £136,000 (year ended 31 December 2020. £81,000).

The totat unpaid pension contributions outstanding at the period end were £nil (2020: £7,000).

14, Related party transactions

Company transactions with subsidiaries
The Company has taken advantage of exemption, under the terms of Section 33 of FRS 102, not to disclose related party

transactions with subsidiaries within the Group.

Transactions with Directors
Details of transactions with Directors are included in Note 31 'Related Party Transactions' of the consolidated financial

statements.

15. Ultimate parent company

On 11 May 2022 Marshall Motor Holdings Limited was acquired by a new intermediate parent company, CAG Vega 2
Limited, a company incorporated in England and Wales. The ultimate controlling party became TDR Capital LLP, a Limited
Liability Partnership incorporated in England and Wales. Constellation Automotive Holdings Limited is the largest
undertaking that consolidates these financial statements.

The financial statements of these companies can be obtained from The Registrar of Companies at Companies House, Crown
Way, Cardiff CF14 3UZ.
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Appendix — Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)

The Group presents various APMs as the Directors believe that these are useful for users of the financial statements in
helping to provide a balancea view of, and relevant information on, the Group's financial performance. The APMs are
measures which disclose the adjusted performance of the Group excluding specific items which are regarded as non-
recurring. See Note 7 ‘Non-Underlying Items’ for full details of the nature of items excluded fram non-underlying performance

measures.

The following tables show the reconciliation between the Group's performance as reported in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS} and the Group’s underlying performance and like-for-like results.

Underlying operating profit

Total continuing operating profit as reported

Impact of non-underlying items

Acquisition costs

Net recognition of restructuring costs

Profit on disposal of assets classified as held for sale
Profit on disposal of investment property

Lass an impairment of goodwill and cther tangible assets

Continuing underlying operating profit

Adjusted net debt

Net debt consists of:
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and borrowings
Lease liabilities

Closing net debt

Lease liabilities
Adjusted net cash
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15 months Year ended
ended 31 December

31 March 2022 2020
£'000 £'000
97,256 30,532
3,476 13
7.732 2,070
(86) (1,563)
(913) {148)

- 218

10,209 590
107,465 31,122
31 March 31 December
2022 2020
£'000 £'000
27,698 33,844
(12.111) (5,024)
(2092713 (99,344)
{193,684) (70,524)
(209.271) (99,344)
15,587 28,820




